BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH

To:

TELEPHONE:

020 8464 3333

DIRECT LINE:
FAX:

020 8461 7566
020 8290 0608

CONTACT: Lisa Thornley
lisa.thornley@bromley.gov.uk

DATE: 13 July 2021

Members of the
PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 4
Councillor Richard Scoates (Chairman)
Councillor Colin Hitchins (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors Gareth Allatt, Aisha Cuthbert, Ian Dunn, Kate Lymer, Neil Reddin FCCA,
Kieran Terry and Michael Turner
A meeting of the Plans Sub-Committee No. 4 will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on
THURSDAY 22 JULY 2021 AT 7.00 PM
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber at the Civic Centre,
Stockwell Close, Bromley, BR1 3UH. Members of the public can attend the meeting to
speak on a planning application (see the box on public speaking below).
There will be limited additional space for other members of the public to observe the
meeting – if you wish to attend, please contact us before the day of the meeting if
possible, using our web-form:
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm
Please be prepared to follow the identified social distancing guidance at the meeting,
including wearing a face covering.

MARK BOWEN
Director of Corporate Services
Members of the public can speak at Plans Sub-Committee meetings on planning reports,
contravention reports or tree preservation orders. To do so, you must have:


already written to the Council expressing your view on the particular matter, and
indicated your wish to speak by contacting the Democratic Services team by no later than
10.00am on the working day before the date of the meeting.

These public contributions will be at the discretion of the Chairman. They will normally be limited to
two speakers per proposal (one for and one against), each with three minutes to put their view
across.

To register to speak please e-mail lisa.thornley@bromley.gov.uk
(telephone: 020 8461 7694) or committee.services@bromley.gov.uk
If you have further enquiries or need further information on the content of any of the
applications being considered at this meeting, please contact our Planning Division
on 020 8313 4956 or e-mail planning@bromley.gov.uk
Information on the outline decisions taken will usually be available on our website
(see below) within a day of the meeting.
Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/

AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3

CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 27 MAY 2021
(Pages 1 - 12)

4

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

Report
No.

Ward

Page
No.

Application Number and Address

4.1

Hayes and Coney Hall

13 - 60

(20/05027/FULL1) – 34 West Common Road,
Hayes, Bromley BR2 7BX

4.2

Cray Valley West

61 - 80

(20/02548/FULL1) - Hoblingwell Wood,
Recreation Ground, Leesons Way, Orpington

4.3

Petts Wood and Knoll

81 - 94

(20/04071/FULL6) - 10 Silverdale Road, Petts
Wood, Orpington, Kent BR5 1NJ

4.4

Plaistow and Sundridge

95 - 104

(21/01089/TPO) - Sundridge Park Golf Club,
Garden Road, Bromley BR1 3NE

4.5

Chislehurst
Conservation Area

105 - 122

(21/02147/FULL6) - 7 Manor Place, Chislehurst
BR7 5QH

5

CONTRAVENTIONS AND OTHER ISSUES

Report
No.

5.1

Ward

Biggin Hill

Page
No.
123 - 132

Application Number and Address

Direct Action to Achieve Compliance with Tree
Replacement Notice at Land Adjacent to
47 Sunningvale Avenue, Biggin Hill

TREE PRESERVATION ORDERS

6
Report
No.

Ward

Page
No.

Application Number and Address

6.1

Farnborough and Crofton

133 - 140

Confirmation of TPO 2696, 372 Crofton Road,
Orpington BR6 8NR

6.2

Farnborough and Crofton

141 - 148

Confirmation of TPO 2705, Dalton Close,
Orpington

The Council’s Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct sets out how planning
applications are dealt with in Bromley.

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 3
PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE NO. 4
Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 27 May 2021
Present:
Councillor Richard Scoates (Chairman)
Councillor Colin Hitchins (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors Gareth Allatt, Aisha Cuthbert, Ian Dunn,
Kate Lymer, Keith Onslow, Kieran Terry and Michael Turner
Also Present:
Councillors Peter Dean and Simon Fawthrop
9

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE
MEMBERS

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Neil Reddin; Councillor Keith
Onslow attended as substitute.
10

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of interest were received.
11

CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 18 MARCH 2021

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 March 2021 be confirmed
and signed as a correct record.
12

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

12.1
MOTTINGHAM AND
CHISLEHURST NORTH

(19/01865/FULL1) - Eltham College, Grove Park
Road, Mottingham, London SE9 4QF
Description of application – New astro turf hockey
pitch, hockey training area and associated
floodlighting.
Oral representations in support of the application were
received at the meeting.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that PERMISSION
BE GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions and informative set out in the report of the
Assistant Director, Planning.

9

Page 1

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
12.2
CRYSTAL PALACE

(20/01236/FULL1) - 94 Crystal Palace Park Road,
Sydenham SE26 6UP
Description of application – Construction of a four
storey side extension including undercroft to create 2
self-contained flats.
It was reported that a letter from applicant’s agent had
been received and circulated to Members. It was also
reported that there were no permitted development
rights for blocks of flats.
Members having considered the report and
objections, RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE
GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions and informatives set out in the report of the
Assistant Director, Planning.

12.3
DARWIN

(20/03545/FULL1) - Land Adjacent Bramlyns,
Cudham Lane North, Cudham, Sevenoaks
Description of application – Installation of crossover to
provide vehicular access with access gate.
Oral representations in support of the application were
received at the meeting.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that PERMISSION
BE GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions set out in the report of the Assistant
Director, Planning with condition 4 amended to read:‘4 (i) Details of replacement planting of native
hedgerow adjacent to the vehicular access shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the first use of the
vehicular accessway. The replacement hedgerow
planting shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details in the first planting season
following the approval of said details.
(ii) Any hedgerow planting that is found to be dead,
dying, severely damaged or diseased within five years
of the completion of the building works OR five years
of the carrying out of the landscaping scheme
(whichever is the later), shall be replaced in the next
planting season by specimens of similar size and
species.’

10

Page 2

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
12.4
CHISLEHURST
CONSERVATION AREA

(20/04094/FULL6) - Cameron, Mead Road,
Chislehurst BR7 6AD
Description of application – Summerhouse enclosure
to the rear.
Oral representations in support of the application were
received at the meeting.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that PERMISSION
BE GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions set out in the report of the Assistant
Director, Planning with the addition of two further
conditions to read:4. No windows or doors shall at any time be inserted
into the rear elevation of the summerhouse enclosure
hereby permitted.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of nearby
residential properties and to accord with Policy 37 of
the Bromley Local Plan.
5. The summerhouse hereby permitted shall only be
used for purposes incidental to the residential use of
Cameron Mead Road and for no other purpose (either
as a separate residential unit or separate
commercial/business use).
Reason: In order to comply with Policy 37 of the
Bromley Local Plan and in the interests of the
residential amenities of the area.

12.5
PETTS WOOD AND KNOLL

(20/05155/FULL6) - 63 Kingsway, Petts Wood,
Orpington BR5 1PN
Description of application – Erection of part single
storey/part two storey side and rear extensions in
connection with loft conversion.
Oral representations in objection to and in support of
the application were received.
Oral representations from visiting Ward Member
Councillor Simon Fawthrop in objection to the
application were received at the meeting. He urged
Members to refuse the application on the grounds of
over-development. Councillor Fawthrop’s comments
can be viewed as Annex A to these Minutes.
11

Page 3

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
It was reported that further objections from the Petts
Wood & District Residents’ Association had been
received and circulated to Members.
Committee Member and Ward Member Councillor
Onslow advised that all three Ward Members were in
favour of refusing the application. The proposals
would result in an over-development of the site and be
out-of-keeping with the surrounding area. As the road
dropped down, properties on the opposite side were
likely to experience loss of light. The proposals were
contrary to the Petts Wood Area of Special
Residential Character.
Councillor Terry supported refusal stating that the
Petts Wood and District Residents’ Association had
raised valid points.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that the
application be REFUSED for the following reason:1 The proposed development, by reason of its depth,
scale and bulk would result in an overdevelopment of
the site, harmful to the character and appearance of
the Petts Wood Area of Special Residential Character
within which it lies, and thereby contrary to Policies 6,
37 and 44 of the Bromley Local Plan.
12.6
SHORTLANDS

(21/00125/TPO) - 45 Broadoaks Way, Bromley
BR2 OUA
Description of application – T1 Oak - Remove.
Oral representations in objection to the application
were received at the meeting.
Committee Member and Ward Member Councillor
Cuthbert referred to the historic importance of the oak
trees in the locality. Tree Protection Orders should be
taken seriously and allowing this tree to be felled
would set a precedent for future applications.
The Chairman acknowledged that the foundations of
the extension to the property were inadequate.
Councillor Onslow considered that the insurance
company should have taken steps to prevent further
damage by inserting a root barrier.

12

Page 4

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021

Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that the
application to remove one oak tree BE REFUSED
as recommended, for the reason and informatives set
out in the report of the Assistant Director, Planning.
12.7
CHISLEHURST

(21/00126/TPO) - Amenity Land And Footpaths At
Barham Road And Fronting Red Hill, Barham
Road, Chislehurst
Description of application – T3 Oak - Remove.
In response to questions from Councillor Terry, the
Principal Tree Officer reported that:





insufficient data/information was available to
assess the cost value of the tree;
the application referred to the tree furthest away
from the property; and
an informative included in the recommendations
encouraged the agent to undertake an appraisal of
a root barrier which should be included in any
further submission; and
in future, if concerns were raised in relation to
subsidence issues with close neighbouring
properties, this would be assessed and if proven, a
new application could be submitted.

Members having considered the report, RESOLVED
that the application to remove one oak tree be
REFUSED as recommended, for the reason and
informatives set out in the report of the Assistant
Director, Planning.
12.8
KELSEY AND EDEN PARK

(21/00271/FULL6) - 42 Bucknall Way, Beckenham
BR3 3XN
Description of application – Loft conversion
incorporating dormers to the rear and front and
rooflights to the sides, enlargement of the rear ground
floor bay window and partial conversion of the garage.
Members having considered the report, RESOLVED
that PERMISSION BE GRANTED as recommended,
subject to the conditions set out in the report of the
Assistant Director, Planning.

13

Page 5

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
12.9
DARWIN

(21/00480/FULL1) - 19 Edward Road, Biggin Hill
TN16 3HN
Description of application – Demolition of existing
bungalow and construction of a detached two storey 4
bedroom house and a detached 3 bedroom bungalow.
Additional dropped kerb and driveway.
Members having considered the report and
objections, RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE
GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions and informatives set out in the report of the
Assistant Director, Planning.

12.10
KELSEY AND EDEN PARK

(21/00548/FULL1) - 26 Manor Road, Beckenham
BR3 5LE
Description of application – Elevational alterations and
second/third floor upward extension to existing
building incorporating mansard roof and front and rear
dormers, excavation of basement and lightwells and
construction of four storey rear extension. Conversion
of resultant building into 5 no. residential flats (3 no.
two bedroom and 2 no. 1 bedroom) with
balconies/terraces at first, second and third floor.
Formation of surface car parking spaces at rear,
provision of rear cycle and refuse storage and 2 no.
electric car charging points at front.
Oral representations from visiting Ward Member
Councillor Peter Dean in support of the application
were received at the meeting. Councillor Dean
considered that this large building (the bulk of which
was towards the rear), would not be visible from the
road and would be no higher than the neighbouring
property. The five flats were a welcome addition to the
Council’s five year land supply. The back garden
would be well screened and there would be no loss of
privacy, no overlooking, no loss of light or loss of
amenity to neighbouring properties. He reported that
the developer had agreed to increase the width of the
alleyway to improve vehicular access.
The Chairman considered the application to be very
bulky and ugly and would stand out within the street
scene. Councillor Dunn agreed stating the
development would be out-of-character with the
surrounding area.

14

Page 6

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
Councillor Terry sought deferral of the application to
seek a reduction in bulk and design improvements to
fit in with the surrounding area.
Members having considered the report and
objections, RESOLVED that the application be
DEFERRED without prejudice to any future
consideration to seek a reduction in bulk and a design
which is more in character with the streetscene.
12.11
BROMLEY COMMON AND
KESTON

(21/00857/FULL6) - 128 Jackson Road, Bromley
BR2 8NX
Description of application – Conversion of existing
side garage into habitable accommodation,
construction of a single storey glazed link between the
house and garage, side roof dormer, elevational
alterations including new windows, construction of
front porch and renewal of roof coverings. (Revised
scheme to approved application DC/20/01687/FULL6
to allow for new main house roof (revised application
following refusal of application 20/04217/FULL6).
Oral representations in support of the application were
received at the meeting.
The Chairman reported comments received from
Ward Member Councillor Michael who supported
refusal of the application.
The Development Management Area Team Leader
(West) informed Members that a further letter of
support had been received and circulated to
Members.
Members having considered the report and
representations, RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE
GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions set out in the report and of the Assistant
Director, Planning.

12.12
PETTS WOOD AND KNOLL

(21/00910/PLUD) - 25 Woodland Way, Petts Wood,
Orpington BR5 1NB
Description of application – Conversion of existing
roof space to a habitable room including formation of
a gable end with enlarged side window and rear
dormer (LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE
PROPOSED)

15

Page 7

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
Oral representations in support of the application were
received. Oral representations from visiting Ward
Member Councillor Simon Fawthrop were also
received. Councillor Fawthrop had called in the
application to urge Members for a deferral to seek
revised proposals for a half hip roof extension.
The Chairman reported that the applicant had already
refused a request for a half hip roof extension. The
proposals fell within permitted development rights and
the criteria for this had been met.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that A
CERTIFICATE OF LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT BE
GRANTED as recommended, for the reason set out in
the report of the Assistant Director, Planning.
12.13
PLAISTOW AND
SUNDRIDGE

(21/00936/FULL1) - 7 New Street Hill, Bromley
BR1 5AU
Description of application – Erection of an attached
two storey three bedroom house with associated
parking and new for vehicular access for No. 7.
It was reported that a further letter in objection to the
application had been received and circulated to
Members.
Councillor Allatt strongly opposed the character and
symmetry of the development. Councillor Turner
agreed adding that the area consisted of large
detached and semi-detached properties. The terracing
effect of the proposals would be contrary to the design
of the estate. This would result in an overdevelopment of the site and be out-of-character with
the surrounding area.
Members having considered the report and
objections, RESOLVED that the application be
REFUSED for the following reason:1 The proposed new dwelling would fail to respect
the character, rhythm and symmetry of the
streetscene and would result in a cramped
overdevelopment of the site which would be
detrimental to the character and appearance of
New Street Hill, Ridgeway Drive and the wider
Links Estate within which it lies; thereby contrary to
Policies 4 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan.

16

Page 8

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021

12.14
COPERS COPE

(21/01265/FULL1) - 77B Bromley Road,
Beckenham BR3 5PA
Description of application – Demolition of existing
single family dwelling and construction of 7 new flats
with associated landscaping and communal gardens.
The Chairman reported comments received from
Ward Member and Mayor Councillor Russell Mellor.
Councillor Mellor was not opposed to the application.
Members having considered the report and
objections, RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE
GRANTED as recommended, subject to the
conditions and informatives set out in the report of the
Assistant Director, Planning.

12.15
PETTS WOOD AND KNOLL

(21/01310/FULL6) - 39 Crossway, Petts Wood,
Orpington BR5 1PE
Description of application – Two storey front/side
extension, a first floor rear extension and a
replacement front porch/canopy.
Oral representations from visiting Ward Member
Councillor Simon Fawthrop were received at the
meeting. Councillor Fawthrop considered that the
proposals were better than the previous application
but still did not meet the standards required for the
Petts Wood ASRC. He urged Members to defer the
application, to allow the development to be brought
into line with the front building line and to reduce the
bulk a little more so that the application was
acceptable.
Members supported Councillor Fawthrop’s comments.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that the
application be DEFFERED without prejudice to
future consideration to seek a set-back from the front
and a reduction in bulk.

12.16
PETTS WOOD AND KNOLL

(21/01340/FULL6) - 150 Kingsway, Petts Wood,
Orpington BR5 1PU
Description of application – Demolition of existing
conservatory. Erection of part single storey/part two
17

Page 9

Plans Sub-Committee No. 4
27 May 2021
storey front/side extension and elevational alterations.
Oral representations from visiting Ward Member
Councillor Simon Fawthrop in support of the
application were received at the meeting. Councillor
Fawthrop considered this application to be an
improvement on the one currently at appeal and
informed Members that if approved, the applicant
would be willing to withdraw the appeal. He urged
Members to permit the application with conditions to
withdraw permitted development rights including HMO
and garden PDRs. A full copy of Councillor
Fawthrop’s comments can be viewed at Annex A to
these Minutes.
The Development Management Area Team Leader
(East) reported that further objections to the
application and a letter in response to the objections
had been received and circulated to Members.
Councillor Onslow reported that Ward Member
Councillor Owen had submitted an e-mail with
photographs which had been circulated to the
Committee. Councillor Owen considered the
proposals would result in an over-development of the
site. The garage currently being built was under
investigation by the Enforcement Team. This
application barely differed from previous applications.
The spatial effect was cause for concern with the bulk
of the development running along the side of the
property. Councillor Owen sought a deferral to seek a
single storey flat roof extension.
Members having considered the report, objections
and representations, RESOLVED that the
application be DEFERRED without prejudice to any
future consideration to seek a single storey extension
only.
The meeting ended at 8.43 pm

Chairman

18

Page 10

Minute Annex
ANNEX A
COMMENTS RECEIVED FROM COUNCILLOR FAWTHROP
Item 4.5 – 63 Kingsway, Petts Wood
Mr Chairman
First of all Mr Chairman can I compliment the report writer for extracting much of the
Petts Wood ASRC description into the report.
What the report writer failed to do and every report writer seems to do this is ignore
the ASRC guidelines contained within the Bromley Plan. Policy 44 refers in
paragraph 5.1.10. which states that the Council will seek to protect the
environmental character of these areas by requiring proposals to have regard to the
guidelines.
I’m not going to go through the all the guidelines, but there are 12 in total.
No. 2 states that Residential density shall accord with that existing in the Area. There
is no assessment against this criteria, but to suggest that a 66% increase in floor
area accords with the existing density does not stack up mathematically.
No. 7 states new development will be required to take account of existing front and
rear building lines. This development by extending by 6m doesn’t accord with
existing rear building lines and comparing it with what was a detached garage in the
adjacent property is the wrong measure it has to be compared with the building lines
of the existing buildings, which to coin a phrase makes this one stick out a mile.
Not forgetting the obscure crown roof, which has been rejected by inspectors on
numerous occasions.
All of these items taken together puts this in conflict with the no.1. guideline that
developments likely to erode the quality and character of the ASRC will be resisted.
Let me just deal with Permitted Development Rights, under current rules a single
storey rear extension could not extend by more than 4m at ground floor level and 3m
at a two store level.
So when you compare this with what could be done without planning permission it is
50% more that would be allowed under PD rights.
Mr Chairman this application is a clear over development of the site. I would
therefore urge you to refuse this under policy 44 with reference to guidelines 1, 2 and
7. This is also contrary to policy 6(a) given the scale of the proposals.

Page 11
9

Item 4.16 - 150 Kingsway
This is a unique corner plot that sits on the corner of Kingsway and Towncourt
Crescent.
This application differs from the previous application in that it is set back a further
0.5m from the boundary with Towncourt Crescent.
For the last application, the applicant had advised that if it was deferred, he would
undertake to submit this reduction. Whilst he appealed the first decision the applicant
would withdraw that appeal if this application were approved. The applicant has been
good to his word, despite protestation from elsewhere that he would not keep to his
word.
If there are concerns about this application, they can all be dealt with by way of
conditions.
If this application is granted, there could be conditions
1) To remove all Permitted Development Rights, these would include home owner
PD, HMO PD and garden PD to ensure the unique corner plot doesn’t become a
concrete jungle as a large are will be covered by development.
2) It can include a no severance clause, to prevent the home becoming two
separate homes, as the plot size, doesn’t lend its self to a high density pair of
semi- detached houses.
I would recommend that you approve this application.

Page 12
10

Agenda Item 4.1
Agenda Item:
Committee Date

Address

Application
number

22nd

July 2021

34 West Common Road
Hayes
Bromley
BR2 7BX
20/05027/FULL1

Officer
Agnieszka Nowak-John

Hayes And Coney Hall
Ward
Proposal
(Summary)

Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment with
the construction of a new three storey building to provide
a 50-bed residential care home (Use Class C2),
including communal facilities, access, car parking and
landscaping.

Applicant
Barchester Healthcare Limited
Anniversary House
23 Abbott Road
Bournemouth
BH9 1EU

Reason for
referral to
committee

Agent
Ms Jo Tasker
Ken Parke Planning Consultants
Anniversary House
23 Abbott Road
Bournemouth
BH9 1EU
Councillor call in

Outside Delegated Authority
YES

RECOMMENDATION PERMISSION SUBJECT TO S106 LEGAL
AGREEMENT AND PLANNING CONDITIONS.

KEY DESIGNATIONS
• Conservation Area (adjoining)

Land use Details

Existing

Use Class

Floor space (SQM)

B1(c) - Light industrial

717.3

Page 13

Proposed

C2 - Residential
institutions

2896

Vehicle parking

Existing number
of spaces

Total proposed
including spaces
retained

Difference
in spaces
(+ or -)

Standard car spaces

N/A

17

17

Disabled car spaces

N/A

2

2

Cycle

N/A

12

12

Electric car charging points

Representation
summary

20% (4) spaces with active provision,
remaining 80% passive provision

A site notice was displayed from 08.02.2021. Neighbour
letters were sent on 21.01.2021. A press ad was
published in News Shopper on 03.02.2021.

Total number of responses
Neutral
Number of objections
Section 106 Heads of
Term
Carbon offset
Healthcare
C2 Use Class
Total

26
3
23
Amount

Agreed in Principle

£145,464
£53,750
N/A
199,214

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
•
•
•
•
•
•

The application site has the benefit of two extant planning permissions for
specialist older persons accommodation in class C3 use.
The proposal for additional good quality, suitable, specialist older persons
accommodation, including dementia care (Use Class C2) is supported.
The proposed design would not detract from the character and appearance of
its surroundings and the adjacent conservation area.
The proposed development would not cause unacceptable harm to the
amenities of neighbouring residential occupiers.
The proposed development would not cause unacceptable harm to biodiversity
and trees.
No unacceptable highway impacts would arise.

Page 14

1.

LOCATION

1.1

The site is located in a prominent position on the north-west corner of West
Common Road and Ridgeway. It has an area of approximately 0.3 hectares
which is currently occupied by six disused, single storey buildings previously
used for office and storage. The site was last used by a heating and plumbing
engineering company until July 2017.
.

Fig.1 Site location plan and an aerial view (source: Design and Access Statement).

1.2

The site has a very slight rise in southern direction and is currently
predominantly hard surfaced except for a small overgrown grassed area
adjacent to the northern boundary.

1.3

The surrounding streets are predominantly residential in character. A two
storey, detached dwelling at 32 West Common Road sits along the north
boundary and The Knoll, a street of two-storey interwar period dwellings, sits to
the rear (west). To the south of the site, on the opposite side of the West
Common Road/Ridgeway junction, is 56 West Common Road, a substantial
two-storey semi-detached dwelling. Further north beyond No 32 there are two
more modern detached properties, The Priest House and Our Lady of the
Rosary Roman Catholic Church. Opposite the site are Hayes School playing
fields which are bounded along the roadside by a line of mature conifers. From
Ridgeway the site is separated from the highway by an area of grass containing
two tall mature trees.

1.4

The application site falls outside but is adjacent to the Hayes Village
Conservation Area.

1.5

The site is lies within a 500-metre level walk of Hayes Town centre and the
railway station. It has a PTAL rating of 2/3 (on a scale of 0 - 6b, where 6b is the

Page 15

most accessible), which indicates low/moderate level of accessibility to public
transport.
2.

PROPOSAL
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2.1

Demolition of all existing buildings;
Construction of a 3 storey, 50 bed care home (Use Class C2), providing
accommodation and care for ‘the elderly, infirm and those suffering from
dementia’;
Total GIA 2896.0m (57.9m² per resident);
Provision of 19 car parking spaces, including 2 Blue Badge spaces;
6 Sheffield type stands which would allow for 12 cycle spaces;
Provision of electric buggy store; and
A stand-alone substation measuring approx. 4m x 4m and a maximum height
of x 4.2 (3m to the eaves).
The application site has the benefit of 2 extant permissions for specialist older
persons accommodation (see Section 3 of this report). This current application
proposes a very similar form of development to the one allowed on appeal (ref.
APP/G5180/W/19/3235672). For the purpose of this report this scheme would
be referred to as a ‘fallback’ scheme. The following changes are now proposed
to facilitate the residential care home use:

•
•
•
•

Amendment to the rear elevation, offering less windows and the removal of
individual balconies and a new larger communal screened balcony area;
The reorganisation of the ground floor services area to bring the refuse closer
to the roadside for collection;
PV panels added within ‘sunken’ flat roof;
Addition of air source heat pumps.

Fig.2 Computer generated image (CGI) - view of the proposal from West Common Road.

2.2

In terms of site layout (see Fig.3 below), the current proposal is similar to the
fallback scheme but with a reduced number of car parking spaces. Internally,
the ground floor would accommodate a foyer, lounge, dining areas, offices, hair
and beauty room, café, mobility scooter store, refuse store and 13 bedrooms.

Page 16

The first floor would house lounge and dining areas, terrace, activity room,
kitchen, and 19 bedrooms. The second floor would accommodate 18 bedrooms
with lounge and dining areas.

Fig.3 Proposed site layout.

3.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

90/02153/FUL - Planning permission was granted for a detached single storey
storage building (Section 63 Application) (04.10.1990).

3.2

06/00444/FULL1 - Planning permission was granted for a single storey office
extension, 2m high boundary fence and 36 car parking spaces (24.05.2006).

3.3

18/01537/FULL1 - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to form
28 sheltered apartments for the elderly, including communal facilities, access,
car parking and landscaping. Refused on 21.02.2019 for the following reason:
The proposed development by reason of its prominent siting, height, scale,
massing, dominant design and excessive degree of site coverage in this
prominent location, represents an uncharacteristic punctuation in the
streetscene out of character and context to the scale and massing of the
existing buildings and general pattern of lesser scale of development in the
vicinity harmful to the visual and residential amenities of the area and contrary

Page 17

to Policies 4 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan (2019) and Policies 7.4 and 7.6
of the London Plan (2016).
3.4

18/01537/FULL1 - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to form
28 sheltered apartments for the elderly, including communal facilities, access,
car parking and landscaping. Refused on 21.02.2019 for the following reason:
The proposed development by reason of its prominent siting, height, scale,
massing, dominant design and excessive degree of site coverage in this
prominent location, represents an uncharacteristic punctuation in the
streetscene out of character and context to the scale and massing of the
existing buildings and general pattern of lesser scale of development in the
vicinity harmful to the visual and residential amenities of the area and contrary
to Policies 4 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan (2019) and Policies 7.4 and 7.6
of the London Plan (2016).

3.5

The subsequent appeal (APP/G5180/W/19/3235672) was allowed on
03.03.2020. It was clarified at the hearing that the reference to the effect of the
proposal on the residential amenities of the area in the above reason for refusal,
did not refer to harm to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. Instead,
it related to a concern regarding an impression of enclosure caused by the
proposed building. It was agreed that this was relevant to assessment of the
proposal’s effect upon the character and appearance of the area. The Inspector
found that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the
surrounding area.

3.6

19/03215/FULL1 - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to form
25 sheltered apartments for the elderly, including communal facilities, access,
car parking and landscaping. Permission granted on 12th June 2020.

3.7

Both of the above permissions represent significant material considerations in
the assessment of the current proposal.

Hayes Bowls Club
3.8
DC/19/01794/FULL1 - Change of use of the existing bowls pavilion to D1 (nonresidential institution use), and erection of a 3 storey building plus basement to
provide a 60 bed care home (Use Class C2), with associated outdoor and
indoor amenities, parking spaces and landscaping. Was refused and
subsequently appealed (APP/G5180/W/20/3249202) and allowed on 25th
February 2021.

4. CONSULATION SUMMARY
4.1

Statutory

•

Clinical Commissioning Group – No objection

•

Thames Water – No objection.

Page 18

4.2
•

4.3

Local groups
The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) Bromley Local Group –
recommends the installation of 15 integral swift nest bricks to be secured via
condition.
Adjoining Occupiers

Objections:
General (addressed in section 6.1 of this report, as well as paragraph 4.4 below):
• question over the need for 2 care homes within 500m of each other;
• the care home should be affordable;
• proposed use entirely out of keeping with the local residential area;
• more details of PV panels should be provided.
Transport (addressed in section 6.5 of this report):
• further increase in traffic, congestion and parking stress;
• inadequate parking;
• parking area would not allow for all of the deliveries required for running a 50 bed
care home
• impact on highway safety, more difficult for students to safely cross the road;
• impact on pedestrians;
• the road is very narrow at the place of construction and the heavy goods vehicles
and plant needed during the construction will provide significant disruption to the
thoroughfare of the road;
• the area will be blighted by heavy construction traffic on roads entirely unsuited to
HGVs;
• transport assessment compiled during lockdown.
Design (addressed in section 6.2 of this report):
• 3-storyes is too high to fit in with surrounding area;
• too large for the size of the site – overdevelopment;
• the building is of no architectural merit;
• considerably less sensitive than the development proposed by Renaissance Living
for this site;
• proposed development is overpowering in height, length and intensity for such a
small plot serviced by a narrow road and pavement;
• there doesn't seem to be much space around the building;
• negative impact on the adjacent Conservation Area;
• the old Stevenson's site contains some of the last remnants of Hayes Place and
so must surely be worthy of protection.
Amenity (addressed in sections 6.3, 6.4 and 6.6 of this report):
• noise created by the generator;
• unacceptable noise intrusion from the electric substation and possible health issue
due to the proximity to the substation. It should be repositioned to elsewhere within
the site;
• an impact statement (Health and Acoustic) to help allay concerns

Page 19

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

50 residents and staff in such a small space doesn't allow for a very pleasant and
airy room or much space to move if confined to the room;
all the windows facing us (i.e. West) would be fitted with obscured glass;
the height could be quite intrusive for the residents of The Knoll;
light pollution from the car park flood lights and from the upper levels of the
property, particularly as there is the intention for all upper levels to have floor to
ceiling windows;
no guarantee that our environment will not be polluted with constant odours and
noise from service kitchens extractor vents;
more noise and congestion into the area, with staff coming and going at unsociable
hours and a likely influx of visitors at weekends;
construction noise will blight the area and disrupt the education of more than 1,000
children.

5.

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

5.1

National Policy Framework 2019

5.2

NPPG

5.3

The London Plan (2021)

GG1
GG2
GG3
GG4
GG6
D1
D2
D3
D4
D5
D6
D7
D8
D11
D12
D13
D14
H1
H13
S1
HC1
G5
G6
SI1
SI 2
SI 3
SI 8

Building strong and inclusive communities
Making the best use of land
Creating a healthy city
Delivering the homes Londoners need
Increasing efficiency and resilience
London’s form, character and capacity for growth
Delivering good design
Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
Delivering good design
Inclusive design
Housing quality and standards
Accessible housing
Public realm
Safety, securing and resilience to emergency
Fire safety
Agent of Change
Noise
Increasing housing supply
Specialist older persons housing
Developing London’s social infrastructure
Heritage conservation and growth
Urban greening
Biodiversity and access to nature
Improving air quality
Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
Energy infrastructure
Waste capacity and net waste self-sufficiency

Page 20

SI 13
T2
T3
T4
T5
T6
T7
DF1
M1

Sustainable drainage
Healthy Streets
Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
Accessing and mitigating transport impacts
Cycling
Car parking
Deliveries, servicing and construction
Delivery of the plan and planning obligations
Monitoring

5.4

Bromley Local Plan (2019)

1
2
4
11
21
26
30
31
32
33
37
42
73
77
79
83
99
113
116
118
119
120
123
124
125

Housing Supply
Provision of Affordable Housing
Housing Design
Specialist and Older People's Accommodation
Opportunities for Community Facilities
Health and Wellbeing
Parking
Relieving Congestion
Road Safety
Access for All
General Design of Development
Development Adjacent to a Conservation Area
Development and Trees
Landscape Quality and Character
Biodiversity and Access to Nature
Non-Designated Employment Land
Residential Accommodation
Waste Management in New Development
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)
Contaminated Land
Noise Pollution
Air Quality
Sustainable Design and Construction
Carbon dioxide Reduction, Decentralised Energy Networks and Renewable
Energy
Delivery and Implementation of the Local Plan

5.5

Supplementary Guidance

•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning Obligations SPD
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction (2014)
The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition (July
2014)
Housing (March 2016)
Homes for Londoners - Affordable Housing and Viability (2017)

Page 21

6.

Assessment

6.1

Principle of development – Acceptable

6.1.1 The acceptability of the loss of the commercial floorspace on the site has been
established within the previous decisions. The application site has the benefit
of two extant planning permissions for specialist older persons accommodation.
The current proposal is for a 50 bed care home which would be in a class C2
use as opposed to the permitted use class C3 development. The acceptability
of the proposed care home use is discussed below.
Care Home Use (Class C2)
6.1.2 Section 5 of the NPPF encourages a sufficient amount and variety of housing
land to significantly boost the supply of homes. Paragraph 59 emphasises the
need to provide housing for people with specific housing requirements and
paragraph 61 advises the need to provide for older people as well as people
with disabilities.
6.1.3 London Plan Policy H13 ‘specialist older persons housing’ advises that
boroughs should work positively and collaboratively with providers to identify
sites which may be suitable for specialist older persons housing taking account
of:
1)
local housing needs information including data on the local type and
tenure of demand, and the indicative benchmarks set out in Table 4.3
2)
the need for sites to be well-connected in terms of contributing to an
inclusive neighbourhood, having access to relevant facilities, social
infrastructure and health care, and being well served by public transport
3)
the increasing need for accommodation suitable for people with
dementia.
6.1.4 Supporting text para 4.13.13 relates to dementia care, advising that
‘… the total number of older people with dementia in London is forecast to rise
from 73,825 in 2017 to 96,939 in 2029, an increase of 31 per cent. Methods of
offering support for people with dementia have improved in recent years, as
have accommodation options. There is currently no clear evidence identifying
the best method of provision of dementia care or accommodation, and it is likely
that a range of solutions will continue to develop. Boroughs should consider the
need for accommodation for people with dementia within specialist older
persons housing developments.’
6.1.5 Para 4.13.14 relates specifically to care home accommodation (Use Class C2)
– separately from the specialist older persons accommodation annual borough
benchmarks 2017-2029 benchmarks set out in Table 4.3. The supporting text
notes that care home accommodation ‘is an important element of the suite of
accommodation options for older Londoners and this should be recognised by
boroughs and applicants. To meet the predicted increase in demand for care
home beds to 2029, London needs to provide an average of 867 care home
beds a year’.

Page 22

6.1.6 Local Plan Policy 11 Specialist and Older Peoples Accommodation advises that
‘the Council supports the provision of specialist housing across all tenures,
where they are conveniently located for a range of local shops, services and
public transport, appropriate to the mobility of the residents, and they provide
appropriate parking and suitably landscaped amenity space.’ The policy also
advises ‘…Where opportunities arise to maximise the use of sites currently
providing specialist accommodation, proposals for extensions or
redevelopments to providing additional accommodation will be looked on
favourably, subject to appropriate scheme design.’
6.1.7 The site does not currently provide specialist accommodation; however, as
already mentioned in this report, it does have two extant permissions for
specialist older persons accommodation. The spirit of Policy 11 is supportive of
the proposal to maximise specialist older persons accommodation on the site,
‘subject to appropriate scheme design’. In this instance, as a care home, the
proposal should provide good quality landscaped amenity space and should
incorporate design features specifically intended for people with mobility issues
and dementia. These aspects are discussed in Section 6.3 of this report.
6.1.8 The Council’s Education Care and Health Services (ECHS) division note the
likely growth in the number of people requiring nursing care and care for
dementia. ECHS indicate that market analysis suggests that there are currently
sufficient nursing beds within the Borough in the short to medium term but note
that the shortage of local nursing bed provision at affordable rates presents
challenge for the Council in meeting local demand. ECHS do not offer support
to this scheme and suggest that the provision of this type of accommodation
may attract people from out of the Borough with an increase in demand for
associated services, including health care. Additionally, the risks associated
with the depletion of resident’s funds (to the individual and the Council) have
been highlighted.
6.1.9 In response to these comments the applicant, Barchester Healthcare,
submitted a Planning Need Assessment undertaken by Carterwood (March
2021). The assessment takes account of the recent planning permission
granted at appeal for Hayes Bowls Club and the summary of the findings are
as follows:
• The assessment for the market catchment and local authority area in 2023,
the earliest the proposed care home could be available, indicates a net need
for 188 and 181 market standard care home beds, respectively.
• The balance of provision for dedicated dementia beds in the market
catchment in 2023 indicates a net need for 338 and 227 market standard
care home beds in the market and local authority catchments, respectively.
• There is a net need for care home bedrooms providing full en-suite
wetrooms of 694 elderly beds in the market catchment and 785 elderly beds
in the local authority area.
• With no further planned new care homes, the net need is expected to
increase to circa 860 and 790 market standard beds by 2043 in the market
and local authority catchments, assuming existing supply and prevalence
rates remain constant, reflecting the sustained and escalating nature of
need.

Page 23

•
•

•
•

Bromley Council commissioning identifies key demand drivers for new care
home beds, particularly for nursing and dementia care, given expected
growth in the elderly demographic.
Based on the market catchment, a good proportion of those requiring care
are likely to be self-funded, and their choice of care home will therefore be
based on location, quality of care and accommodation, and proximity to
friends and family, rather than funding alone.
There is a significant and increasing unmet need for additional market
standard elderly care home beds within the market catchment.
The proposed care home will be capable of providing personal care for
residents with a range of dependency levels, including those who require
dementia care within a dedicated unit, with well-specified, flexible, COVID19-compliant care accommodation to enable care to be administered most
effectively.

6.1.10 Further, the applicant contends that with the same level of demand if supply
increases the average price will fall. If more beds are built there are three
possible scenarios:
1
the home fills as anticipated by the applicant;
2
the applicant has miscalculated the demand and the home remains
empty at no cost to the council;
3
if 2 above happens, the applicant would economically be forced to offer
the vacant beds at a lower price, be it the Councils guide price or
otherwise.
6.1.11 The applicant also opposes the suggestion that frail residents whose average
age is just under 82 may choose to move from out of area into Bromley and
become a “burden” on Bromley taxpayers, as no evidence was adduced to
support this assertion and runs completely contrary to both 20 plus years of
experience the applicant has of operating care homes, and all the leading
analysts and commentators in the industry (Carterwood, CACI, Knight Frank
and Christies) who all believe demand is extremely local - over 90% of residents
move less than 3 miles to a care home. Moreover, as a detailed financial
analysis is carried out by the applicant on all prospective residents to ensure
their resources far outlast their expected length of stay, again there is no
evidence that a care home would place a burden on local taxpayers.
6.1.12 Whilst the concerns raised by ECHS are noted, it needs to be stressed that the
financial issues for the Council are non-planning matters. Paragraph 13 of legal
advice to the Council clarifies that potential for an adverse impact on the Care
Services budget does not fall within the definition of a “local finance
consideration”. Furthermore, the Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS) was
consulted on the application and wished to offer no objections.
6.1.13 Nonetheless, officers consider that due to the potential increase in pressure on
local health services a site-specific health contribution should be sought. This
is further commented on in section 7 of this report.

Page 24

Five Year Housing Land Supply position
6.1.14 The current position in respect of Bromley’s Housing Trajectory, including the
Five Year Housing Land Supply (FYHLS), was agreed at Development Control
Committee on 24th September 2020. The current position is that the FYHLS
(covering the period 2020/21 to 2024/25) is 2,690 units, or 3.31 years supply.
This is acknowledged as a significant undersupply and for the purposes of
assessing relevant planning applications means that the presumption in favour
of sustainable development will apply. The implications of this are set out in the
Housing Trajectory report. It is noted that the trajectory assumes the new
London Plan target of 774 units per annum applies from FY 2020/21.
6.1.15 Supporting text to London Plan Policy H1, para 4.1.9 advises that non selfcontained accommodation for older people (C2 Use Class) should count
towards meeting housing targets on the basis of a 1:1 ratio, with each bedroom
being counted as a single home. As such, the application for an increased
provision of the specialist older persons accommodation, and specifically
dementia care is supported by Local Plan Policy 11 and London Plan Policy,
and would make a valuable contribution to the Borough’s housing supply.
Affordable Housing
6.1.16 Policy 2 Provision of Affordable Housing advises that in order to meet the needs
of the Borough, the Council will seek affordable housing on all housing
developments capable of providing 11 residential units or more or where the
residential floorspace is more than 1000sqm, irrespective of the number of
dwellings. However, the London Plan 2021 confirms that the requirements for
affordable housing from specialist older persons housing set out in Policy H13
B, are not applicable to care home accommodation (para 4.13.4)
6.1.17 Given that exemption from affordable housing rests upon the specific nature of
the use outlined in Policy H13 it is considered necessary to secure this use in
perpetuity through a s106 agreement (see section 7 of this report).
6.2

Design and Conservation – Acceptable

6.2.1 In terms of scale, mass, height and footprint the current proposal would be very
similar to the previously approved scheme (APP/G5180/W/19/3235672).
6.2.2 Some representations received as a result of the public consultation have
expressed concern that this current proposal is a more intensive form of
development than the Renaissance Retirement development that has been
permitted for the site with 28 apartments (the fallback scheme). It is important
to note that that proposal offers a mixture of one and two bedroom units, all with
double bedrooms. In this case 50 single bedrooms are proposed together with
communal areas and servicing areas, with a gross internal floor area of
2896sqm. This is in fact smaller floorspace, albeit only marginally, than the
fallback scheme. A comparison of the two schemes is set out in the Table 1
below:

Page 25

Extant permission (fallback)
28 retirement apartments
3 floors
2918sqm
42 double bedrooms
84 bedspaces

Current proposal
50 bed care home
3 floors
2896sqm
50 single bedrooms
50 bedspaces

Table 1. Comparison of the current proposal with the fallback scheme.

6.2.3 As mechanical and electrical requirements are greater for the proposed use of
the building as a care home, rather than the approved domestic scheme, the
floor to ceiling height is slightly greater than the previously approved scheme
(3150mm instead of 2850mm). Notwithstanding this, the revised design seeks
to generally maintain the eaves and ridge heights established within the extant
consent (see Figs 4 and 5).
6.2.4 The design would continue to draw references from the surrounding context
with simple forms articulated to create a series of projecting and recessed
elements, breaking down the elevation into distinct components. By varying the
roof scape and breaking the scale of the main building blocks, it is intended to
promote a domestic scale that provides a high-quality care home for occupiers
without appearing dominating or out of scale to the surrounding area. The
smaller balconies provided within the approved scheme have been omitted
from this proposal, simplifying the elevations. The proposed building intends to
use quality materials with detailing that would visually enhance the local area.
6.2.5 In terms of the PV panels proposed, they would be located within a sunken area
of the roof and would be angled at approximately 20 to 30 degrees in order to
sit below the ridge line, and be screen from view. The PV panel sizes are shown
on the roof plan, however, as the exact specification would be decided at the
construction design stage, a condition is recommended requesting further
details to be submitted and agreed prior to construction of the development.
6.2.6 The proposed substation would be of a very similar design and would be
positioned in the same location as in the extant permission ref.
19/03215/FULL1.
6.2.7 As such, officers are satisfied that the proposal would not have any greater
impact upon the character and appearance of the area than the fallback
scheme, and subject to a condition requiring the submission of details of
external materials for the building and soft and hard landscaping, the proposed
development would not conflict with Policies 4 and 37 of the Local Plan.
.

Page 26

Fig.4 Comparison of the approved, fallback scheme with the current proposal – East
elevation.

Fig. 5 Comparison of the approved, fallback scheme with the current proposal – South
elevation.

Impact on heritage assets
6.2.8 The site is located adjacent to the Hayes Village Conservation Area. Having
regard to all of the above points, officers consider that the proposed
development would not have any greater impact upon the special character and
appearance of the adjoining Hayes Village Conservation Area than the fallback

Page 27

scheme. As such, the proposal satisfies Policy 42 of the Local Plan which seeks
development proposals adjacent to a Conservation Area to preserve or
enhance its setting and not detract from view into or out of the area.
Designing out Crime
6.2.9 London Plan Policy D3 states that measures to design out crime should be
integral to development proposals and be considered early in the design
process. Development should reduce opportunities for anti-social behaviour,
criminal activities, and terrorism, and contribute to a sense of safety without
being overbearing or intimidating. Developments should ensure good natural
surveillance, clear sight lines, appropriate lighting, logical and well-used routes
and a lack of potential hiding places. This approach is supported by Local Plan
Policy 37(h) (General Design).
6.2.10 Details over how the development could achieve Secure by Design (SbD)
principles have been provided by the Applicant. Designing out Crime Officer
confirmed that SbD is achievable on site and that criminal opportunities can be
reduced whilst still retaining a welcoming appearance. As such, a requirement
for a Secure by Design accreditation would be included within planning
conditions, should the permission be granted.

6.3

Standard of Amenity for Future Occupiers – Acceptable

6.3.1 Paragraph 2.1.55 within the supporting text to Policy 4 of the Local Plan advises
that specialist housing is exempt from housing standards set out in the London
Plan. The text, however, goes on to say that a satisfactory standard of
accommodation should still be expected for specialist housing. Additionally,
Policy 37 of the Local Plan requires all development to be of a high standard of
design and layout.
6.3.2 The internal layout of the proposed development takes account of key dementia
design principles. The accommodation would oﬀer a variety of lounge, dining
and communal spaces, encouraging activities and providing choice of
destinations to residents. The applicant advise that a choice of space is
particularly important for those with dementia providing opportunities for both
quiet and active spaces, and helping to avoid confusion of residents. Corridors
would be broken up by natural light and varying widths leading to communal
destinations. Clear way finding would be ensured throughout the building and
around the site.
6.3.3 Bedroom sizes would significantly exceed statutory minimums to facilitate
varied bed position options, maintaining direct views both to the window and
en-suite WC facilities. Low level window cills would allow views out from a
seated or lying position. Bedrooms would be arranged in a staggered manner
where possible, in order to avoid doors being opposite each other, thereby
eliminating confusion to residents with dementia. Each floor of each wing would
act as a self-contained care group with its own assisted bathroom, nursing

Page 28

station and utilities. Assisted WC’s would be positioned in close proximity to
communal spaces, and would be clearly identifiable.
6.3.4 External landscape areas would be provided. All of the 13 ground floor
bedrooms would have direct access to outside space. Additionally, a terrace is
proposed to the west elevation of the first floor provide meaningful and usable
space for multiple residents. To protect residents from falling, a 1.8m high
glazed screen would be provided, rather than the typical 1.1m required by
Building Regulations.
Fire Safety
6.3.5 London Plan Policy D12 states that in the interest of fire safety and to ensure
the safety of all building users, all development proposals must achieve the
highest standard of fire safety and a fire statement detailing how the
development proposal will function is required.
6.3.6 A Fire Safety Statement provided demonstrates that the proposals have
considered fire safety throughout the design which includes as follows:
•
•

•
•
•

The method of escape would be Progressive Horizontal Escape (PHE);
Building Regulations Part B (volume 2) currently does not require sprinklers etc
for a care home however Barchester's standard specification requires a Fire
Suppression by means of a Mist System designed, installed, commissioned,
tested and maintained in accordance with BS 8458 2015;
A fully addressable BS 5839-1:2017 L1 (or equivalent) standard alarm and
detection system would be installed within the premises with smoke detection
in all rooms where a fire may start;
The building would be divided into compartments of no more than 5 bedrooms
- significantly less than the maximum of 10 allowed under Building Regulations
Part B (volume 2);
The floors and compartment walls would provide a minimum of 60 minutes
compartmentation.

6.3.7 Officers consider it appropriate that a full Fire Safety Strategy is submitted for
further approval covering the above points in greater detail in order to ensure
that a robust fire protection and management procedures are in place to
safeguard the safety of the future residents. A condition is recommended to this
effect.
6.3.8 Overall, officers are satisfied that the proposed accommodation would create a
safe and comfortable living environment with good standard of amenity for
future residents. As such, the proposal complies with Local Plan Policy 4 and
Policy 37.
6.4

Impact on Existing Residential Amenity – Acceptable

6.4.1 The proposal maintains the overall scale, mass, height and footprint of the
fallback scheme (APP/G5180/W/19/3235672) and the proposed development
would not sit closer to the boundaries or neighbouring properties.

Page 29

Consequently, it is not considered that any new impact upon the
daylight/sunlight and outlook/sense of enclosure would result.
6.4.2 In regard to privacy, the proposed terrace would be located in a similar position
as some of the first-floor balconies of the approved scheme. Whilst officers
recognise that the size of the terrace could lead to a more intensive use, the
omission of balconies and the reduction in the number of windows within the
west elevation would decrease the overall opportunities for the actual or
perceived overlooking (Fig.6). As with the approved scheme, end of
corridor/sitting windows on both the first and second floors facing west would
be fixed shut and obscure glazed.

Fig.6 Comparison of the approved, fallback scheme (top) with the current proposal
(bottom) – West elevation.

6.4.4 As already mentioned in para 6.2.6 of this report, the proposed substation
would be of a very similar design and would be positioned in the same location
as in the fallback scheme.
General disturbance
6.4.5 The proposed development would employ a total of 45 staff members. The
administration staff would work 8am-5pm, with the carers completing the
following shift patterns: 8am-1pm (day), 1pm-8pm (afternoon) and 8pm-8am
(overnight). A maximum number of 25 staff (18 carers and 7 admin staff) would
be present on-site at a time, but with only care staff present during overnight
shifts (8 carers overnight). While no specific visitor times are provided,
information from the applicant has confirmed that peak visiting hours are

Page 30

between 8am and 6pm (10 hours), and that an estimated maximum number of
visitors in one day would be 9 visitors.
6.4.6 Whilst the proposed care home use could introduce a greater level of activity to
the surrounding area when compared to the fallback scheme, officers
acknowledge that the peak activity on the site arising from visitors and staff
changeover periods would fall comfortably within the ‘daytime’ hours. Further,
the point of access to the development would be located on West Common
Road which already experiences significant activity from both existing
pedestrian and vehicular sources. In officers view, the additional activity and
any potential disturbance and noise generated by the development would not
be of such significance as to result in a harmful impact on the amenity of existing
neighbours. An assessment of the Environmental Health considerations, such
as air quality and noise is carried out in section 6.6 of this report.
6.4.7 To this end, officers consider that there would be no adverse impact on the
living conditions of neighbouring occupiers resulting from the proposal, in line
with Local Plan Policy 37.
6.5

Transport and Highways – Acceptable

6.5.1 The application site is located in an area with low/moderate PTAL rating of 2/3
(on a scale of 0 - 6b, where 6b is the most accessible). Given the care home
use proposed, there would be no demand for resident parking. The parking onsite would be provided for staff and visitors, in lower quantity than the approved
scheme. Nineteen car parking spaces (inclusive of 2 disabled spaces) are
indicated on the submitted plans.
6.5.2 The existing access would be modified to 5m wide leading to the car parking
area. This is satisfactory in principle and all redundant vehicular crossovers
would need to be reinstated to footway level. Similar to the extant approval the
refuse collection would be from the carriageway, however allowance has been
made for deliveries to be made from within the site.
Parking demand - staff patterns
6.5.3 The Addendum Transport Statement by Paul Basham Associates (April 2021)
provides data with regards to shift patterns and staffing levels and likely parking
demand generated by staff members. The proposed development would
employ a total of 45 staff members. The staff numbers and roles to be provided
on site are summarised in Table 1 below:

Page 31

Table 2. Proposed staff numbers.

6.5.3 The applicant has confirmed that administration staff would work 8am-5pm, with
the carers completing the following shift patterns: 8am-1pm (day), 1pm-8pm
(afternoon) and 8pm-8am (overnight). The proposed development would have
a maximum number of 25 staff (18 carers and 7 admin staff) present on-site at
any one time. The Addendum Transport Statement states that “Information from
the client’s experience suggests that 30% of staff members would travel by car,
however that this would likely be car sharing with a minimum of 2 staff members
in one vehicle. The remaining 70% of staff members would travel by walking,
cycling or public transport.” When this is applied to the maximum of 25 staff
members on-site at any one time, this would equate to the demand for 2 admin
staff and 5 carers to park, leaving 10 spaces plus 2 disabled spaces available
for visitors. This therefore suggests that there is capacity on site to
accommodate the parking demand associated with members of staff. The
proposed development provides a total of 19 car parking spaces, which equates
to a parking ratio of 0.38 spaces per bedroom.
Parking demand - visitor numbers
6.5.4 To understand the predicted visitor numbers, data from similar existing
Barchester Healthcare care homes located in PTAL areas of 2 to 3 has been
provided to confirm the average number of visitors to these sites pre-COVID
(Table 2).
6.5.5 The data provided in Table 2 suggests that on average other Barchester
Healthcare care homes receive 8 visitors a day with a worst-case scenario of
11 visitors a day (Cheverton Lodge). Data from the sites where separate
weekday and weekend visitor information was collated indicate that on average
70% of visits occur during the week and 30% occur at the weekend. Based on
the average number of visitors (pre-COVID) at other sites, the proposed
development is anticipated to generate 56 visits a week (i.e. 8 visitors x 7 days).
When the percentage splits for weekday and weekend visits are applied this
equates to 17 visits occurring at the weekend and 39 visits occurring throughout

Page 32

the week on average. In the light of the above, the application site is anticipated
to receive its highest number of visitors on a weekend day with 9 visitors.

Table 3. Existing Pre-COVID visitor numbers and staff numbers at existing sites.

Visiting Times
6.5.6 While no specific visitor times are provided, information from the applicant has
confirmed that peak visiting hours are between 8am and 6pm (10 hours). When
this is applied to the maximum number of visitors in one day (9 visitors), this
suggests that on average there would be 1 visitor an hour at the proposed site.
Visitor hours vary significantly and indeed so does the length of time of each
visit. It is therefore likely that visitors would be coming and going over a period
of 8am-6pm.
Parking Accumulation Assessment
6.5.7 A staff parking accumulation assessment indicates that there is sufficient
parking on site to accommodate staff members, with a minimum of 5 parking
spaces available during the changeover period between the day and the
afternoon shifts. The above indicates that there is adequate capacity within the
site car park to accommodate the anticipated 9 daily visitors. It is therefore
considered that the level of parking provision onsite is sufficient to
accommodate the demands generated by future staff and visitors without
overspill onto the surrounding highway network.
Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP)
6.5.8 London Plan requires all residential car parking spaces to provide infrastructure
for electric or Ultra-Low Emission vehicles. In line with Policy T6.1 ‘Residential
Parking’, 20 per cent of spaces would have active charging facilities, with
passive provision for all remaining spaces. A condition to secure this provision
is recommended.

Page 33

Cycle parking
6.5.9 Given the nature of the proposed development it is unlikely that residents would
cycle, however, in line with London Plan minimum cycle parking standards, a
total of 12 cycle spaces are provided on site which form 6 Sheffield standards.
Additionally, space for cycle storage and mobility scooter parking would be
made available on site, located close to the main entrance of the building and
easily accessible to the highway. As such this is considered acceptable.
6.6

Environmental Health – Acceptable

Noise
Car parking
6.6.1 London Plan Policy D13 agent of change places the responsibility for mitigating
impacts from existing noise and other nuisance- generating activities or uses
on the proposed new noise – sensitive development. Development should be
designed to ensure the established noise and other nuisance-generating uses
remain viable and can continue or grow without unreasonable restrictions being
placed on them.
6.6.2 The Noise Assessment Report completed by Clarke Saunders Acoustics
(November 2020) assessed the noise from vehicle manoeuvring within the car
park and the slamming of car doors. It has assumed an estimated total of 119
daily vehicle trips (12-hour) within the carpark as specified in Section 5.10 of
the Transport Statement. To demonstrate ‘worse case’ source measurements
of car doors being ‘slammed’, rather than ‘closed’, were undertaken in the CSA
car park alongside the movement of diesel cars.
6.6.2 The report stated that ‘Given the context of the proposed car park being part of
a care home, the maximum noise levels used in the assessment could be
considered extreme where lower noise levels would be expected for typical
usage’. The assessment demonstrated that the existing daytime background
sound climate may increase by up to 2 dB, based upon 169 instances of car
park movement and door closures, but this is worse case as indicated above
and over the averaged time period should not be significant. Also, it should be
noted that an existing brick boundary wall would be retained between the car
park and adjacent residential receptor. Although not mentioned in the acoustic
report or considered in the noise calculation the proposed site plan details an
additional new 1.8m high close boarded acoustic fence surmounted on the
existing wall. The fence is likely to afford additional noise mitigation for the car
park. Measured LAmax events of car doors being closed have been used to
assess impact and these were predicted to be within the WHO Guidelines for
Community Noise (1999), inside the neighbouring property with windows open.
Building Services Plant Noise
6.6.3 Policy 119 of the Bromley Local Plan requires any new noise source is 10 dB
below the existing typical background LA90 noise level when measured at any

Page 34

sensitive receptor, where there is a risk of cumulative impact on background
level over time or where an area is already subject to an unsatisfactory noise
environment. The noise assessment provided the proposed plant design noise
criteria in 5.2.3, based on 10dBA below the background noise level:

Table 4 Proposed plant design noise criteria (source: Noise Assessment Report).

6.6.4 The report has identified the above design criteria when assessing plant noise
emissions for the proposed development and future cumulative plant noise
emissions. As no specific details of any proposed plant were submitted with the
proposal, further acoustic assessment would be required prior to installation of
any fixed noise generating plant to prevent adverse effects from plant noise,
providing mitigation and calculated evidence that meets the noise limit criteria
set out in the report submitted. It should be noted that the cumulative plant noise
should include the noise from the substation.
Air Quality
6.6.5 An Air Quality Assessment by Hawkins Environmental (April 2020) submitted
in support of the application presents an air quality neutral assessment for traffic
and the CHP plant and demonstrates that both elements would be air quality
neutral. With the plant, however, the assessment was based on the emissions
data being less than 3 g/kWh, from a building perspective, as at the time the
report was produced the data concerning emission rates of the proposed plant
was not supplied. Consequently, in order to minimise the impact of the
development on local air quality and to ensure the development is Air Quality
Neutral, the Combined Heat and Power plant (CHP) must not exceed the dry
NOx emission rate specified in the report. A condition is recommended to
secure this requirement.
6.6.6 The air quality construction impact was assessed for the site and it concluded
that Dust Emission Magnitude was “Medium” for earthworks and construction,
“Small” for demolition and trackout, and it was therefore considered a “Medium
Risk Site” overall. A Construction and Environmental Management Plan
condition is recommended to ensure the mitigation measures identified in the
report are followed.
Construction and Environmental Management Plan
6.6.7 The environmental impacts arising during construction phase will be addressed
through the Construction and Environmental Management Plan. An informative
will be added to this consent, should it be granted, drawing the Applicant’s
attention to the ‘Control of Pollution and Noise from Demolition and
Construction Sites Code of Practice 2017’.

Page 35

Contaminated Land
6.6.8 The Technical Appraisal Report by RSK (May 2016) submitted with the
previous application and re-submitted as part of this application, presented
results from a site investigation report where there were elevated levels of PAH
and TPH concentrations. The report recommended that capping material
should be provided, comprising a 300mm thickness of clean, inert
topsoil/subsoil in all proposed areas of soft landscaping and a thickness of
600mm in private gardens. The land contamination condition is therefore
recommended, in order to ensure the remediation strategy presented in the
report is followed and for there to be a watching brief during the construction
process and as specified in part d of the condition ‘If during any works
contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified then the
additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate
remediation scheme submitted to the Authority for approval in writing by it or on
its behalf’.
Lighting
6.6.9 The applicant has confirmed standard specifications for external lighting levels:
• Car parks and pathways - 5 Lux
• Main entrance - 20 Lux
• Meander paths (including stairs) - 5 Lux
• Escape routes and emergency muster point(s) - 5 Lux
• External Refuse/Bin Store - 10 Lux (Local PIR)
6.6.10 The above Lux levels are considered as generally acceptable, however as no
lighting scheme was submitted, further details are required for submission prior
to the commencement of the above ground works.
6.6.11 The Council’s Environment Health officer raised no objection to the proposal,
subject to the imposition of the recommended conditions and the
implementation of mitigation measures as outlined in the technical reports.
6.7

Biodiversity – Acceptable

6.7.1 NPPF Policy 170 outlines that planning policies and decisions should contribute
to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on
and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.
6.7.2 London Plan Policy G5 states major development should contribute to the
greening of London including urban greening as a fundamental element of site
and building design, and by incorporating measures such as high-quality
landscaping, green roofs, green wall and naturel- based sustainable drainage.
The London plan recommends a target score of 0.4 for developments that are
predominantly residential. London Plan Policy G6 states development should
manage impacts on biodiversity and aim to secure net biodiversity gain.

Page 36

6.7.3 Policy 72 of the Local Plan states that planning permission will not be granted
for development or change of use of land that will have an adverse effect on
protected species, unless mitigating measures can be secured to facilitate
survival, reduce disturbance or provide alternative habitats. Policy 73 requires
proposals for new development will be required to take particular account of
existing trees on the site and on adjoining land, which in the interests of visual
amenity and/or wildlife habitat, are considered desirable to be retained. Tree
preservation orders will be used to protect trees of environmental importance
and visual amenity. When trees have to be felled, the Council will seek suitable
replanting.
Trees
6.7.4 The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural opportunities and
constraints assessment, as well as Arboricultural assessment and method
statement, including a Tree Protection Plan prepared by Barrell (October 2020
and November 2020 respectively). There are no Category A or TPO trees within
or directly adjoining the site. All four trees that would need to be removed to
facilitate development (two apple trees and two sycamore trees) are all
identified as being category C, i.e. of no significant amenity value because of
their poor condition or small size. All retained trees would be protected during
development by using fencing and ground protection. Special precautions to
limit the impact of encroachment would be applied to tree T9 (Acacia). An
indicative landscaping plan indicates that 4 fruit trees would be planted in order
to mitigate for the loss of the two apple trees.
6.7.5 With adequate precautions to protect the retained trees implemented, the
development proposal would not cause an unacceptable or adverse impact on
the long-term vitality of the retained trees, and therefore the character and
appearance of the area. Subject to the imposition of landscaping and tree
protection conditions no objections are raised in this respect.
Biodiversity enhancements and urban greening
6.7.6 The site has very little green space with almost all areas covered by hard
standing and buildings. There is a small garden area, some ornamental shrubs
and a partial hedge at the rear, thought to be part of a neighbouring property’s
boundary. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Ecological impact assessment
by Abbas Ecology (November 2020) submitted in support of the application
advises that all of the buildings were inspected internally and externally for
evidence of bats and nesting birds. External areas were considered as potential
BAP habitat and the surveyor looked for habitat suitable for/evidence of reptiles,
rare amphibians, badgers, dormice and other protected species.
6.7.7 The report advises that the site was assessed as having no evidence of and
negligible potential for protected species. Previous survey work in 2017 found
no evidence of bats using internal voids or crevice features on the buildings.
The survey in 2020 found low - negligible potential for protected species other
than bats. Nesting birds could use features on the buildings, but this can be
addressed through timing of works to avoid the nesting bird season. The garden

Page 37

space is regarded as too small to be a significant resource for reptiles and
amphibians, although small numbers could be present.
6.7.8 The development will not cause any direct impacts to protected species or
habitats on site providing appropriate precautions are taken with regard to soft
demolition and site clearance. The report recommends an appropriate method
of works for supervised removal of Potential Roost features from buildings prior
to demolition, as well as clearance of the small garden area with the aim of
manipulating habitat to encourage any reptiles present to move into adjacent
gardens. of potential bat roosting features and vegetation clearance to avoid
harm to nesting birds and reptiles. The development is also unlikely to have any
negative impact on nearby protected or locally important sites, as residents of
the care facility would not usually be able to leave site for recreation.
6.7.9 The London Plan recommends a target score of 0.4 for developments that are
predominantly residential. An urban green calculation has been submitted
which indicates that the proposal would achieve a score of 0.24. Whilst this
score falls short of the threshold recommended, officers note that the
biodiversity enhancements proposed as part of the proposal would create
opportunities for wildlife and a net gain for biodiversity. New trees and
permeable paving areas would be introduced within the site. The existing area
of green space would be increased in size. Planting proposals include the use
of native species forming the majority of hedgerow plants and also feature nonnative plants known to be attractive to pollinators, including some
recommended by the Royal Horticultural society and the Bumblebee
Conservation Trust. The proposed enhancements include installation of a bat
and bird boxes, and swift nest bricks. The gaps in fences and boundaries would
allow hedgehogs to move freely across the site.
6.8

Drainage and flooding – Acceptable

6.8.1 The NPPF states that major development should incorporate sustainable
drainage systems which should take account of advice from the lead flood
authority; have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards; have
maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of
operation for the lifetime of the development; and where possible, provide
multifunctional benefits. London Plan Policy SI-13 and BLP Policy 116 states
development proposals should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and
ensure that surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible.
Bromley requires surface water runoff rates and volumes from development to
be managed in accordance with the London Plan.
6.8.2 The submitted Drainage Strategy Report by Arch Associates (November 2020)
demonstrates how the principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems have been
applied to the development in line with the above policies and guidance.
6.8.3 The proposed foul water drainage strategy was designed in accordance with
Thames Water requirements. Given the site topography and location of the foul
sewer within West Common Road, it is proposed to discharge the foul water
run-off from the site into the existing sewer south via a new foul network gravity

Page 38

system. The hydraulic design for the discharge rate for the foul wastewater has
been calculated at 1.4 litres per second based on a 50 bed care home at 375
litres per bed per day.
6.8.4 Given the ground poor infiltration potential and relatively shallow groundwater
level, is not possible to drain all the surface water run-off by infiltration. The
proposed surface water strategy would therefore consist of a gravity sewer
system, a SuDS management train in the form of cellular attenuation crate
system, and permeable paving with flow control units. All run-off from roofs will
be directed into a gravity system that comprises an attenuation tank, a
Hydrobrake flow control unit and permeable subbase for storage. The SuDS
features would be designed to cater for all storms up to and including the 1 in
100 year event plus an allowance of 40% increase due to climate change. The
proposed surface water run-off from the development site would be discharged
at a limited peak rate of 5.0 l/s, via a flow control unit, to an existing public
surface water sewer network running along West Common Road in northerly
direction to the east of the site.
6.8.5 The Council’s drainage officer and Thames Water have raised no objection to
the proposal, except conditions to secure the detailed design of the sustainable
drainage measures. Subject to the conditions and informative, it is considered
that the proposal would be acceptable with regards to the surface water run-off
and drainage.
6.9

Energy/Sustainability – Acceptable

6.9.1 Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states that in determining planning applications,
LPAs should expect new developments to comply with policies and
requirements for decentralised energy supply unless this is demonstrated to not
be feasible or viable.
6.9.2 Local Plan Policy 124 and London Plan Policy SI 2 requires major development
should be net zero- carbon, reducing greenhouse gas emissions in operation
and minimising both annual and peak energy demand in accordance with the
energy hierarchy
1) Be Lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation;
2) Be Clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and
supply energy efficiently and cleanly;
3) Be Green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing,
storing and using renewable energy on-site;
4) Be Seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance.
6.9.3 London Plan requires a net zero-carbon target for all new major developments
with at least a 35% on-site reduction beyond Part L 2013 of the Building
Regulations. Under the Be Lean measures, residential development should
achieve 10 per cent. Where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero-carbon
target cannot be fully achieved on site, any short fall should be provided in
agreement with the borough, either:
1) Though a cash in lieu contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund or

Page 39

2) Off-site provided that an alternative proposal is identified and delivery is
certain.
6.9.4 Development proposals referable to the Mayor should calculate whole life-cycle
carbon emissions through a nationally recognised Whole Life-Cycle Carbon
Assessment and demonstrate actions taken to reduce life-cycle carbon
emissions.
6.9.5 The revised Energy and Sustainability Report by Harniss Consulting Ltd (June
2021) concludes that the conceptual design stage energy strategy includes the
provision of a photovoltaic array of 260sqm in addition to an enhanced fabric
and energy efficient fixed building services systems. By following the energy
hierarchy, a saving of over 35% beyond baseline AD Part L2A has been
achieved reducing the overall emissions to 51.04 tonnes CO2/annum for the
proposed development. To become a nett zero carbon development a cash inlieu contribution to off-set the carbon for the next 30 years was calculated at
£145,464 based on £95 per tonne.
6.9.6 The Council’s Energy officer has been consulted and no objection is raised to
the proposal and recommended the total carbon offsetting payment be secured
by a legal agreement. A condition is also recommended to secure the carbon
saving measures as set out in the energy assessment can be delivered.
7.

Planning Obligations

7.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that in dealing with
planning applications, local planning authorities should consider whether
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the
use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be
used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a
planning condition. It further states that where obligations are being sought or
revised, local planning authorities should take account of changes in market
conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to
prevent planned development being stalled. The NPPF also sets out that
planning obligations should only be secured when they meet the following three
tests:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Necessary to make the development acceptable
Directly related to the development; and
Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

7.2

Policy 125 of the Local Plan and the Council's Planning Obligations SPD state
that the Council will, where appropriate, enter into legal agreements with
developers, and seek the attainment of planning obligations in accordance with
Government Guidance.

7.3

The development, as proposed, would necessitate the following obligations,
which have been agreed with the agent:
-

Carbon offset cash-in-lieu: £145,464

Page 40

-

Health contribution: £53,750
Care home use in perpetuity (Use Class C2)

CIL
7.4

The Mayor of London's CIL is a material consideration. CIL is payable on this
application and the applicant has completed the relevant form.

7.5

The London Borough of Bromley Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
proposals were approved for adoption by the Council on 19 April 2021, with a
date of effect on all relevant planning permissions determined on and after 15
June 2021.

7.6

In line with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (April
2021), the gross internal area of a new build residential development which
delivers additional care and support services, i.e. care home (Use Class C2) is
not CIL liable. Nonetheless, officers consider that a site-specific health
contribution should be secured to address any potential increase in pressure
on local health services. The formula based health contribution for a 50 bed
care home amounts to £53,750 and the applicant agreed to this figure.

8.

Conclusion

8.1

Member’s attention is drawn to the fact that the application site has the benefit
of two extant planning permissions for specialist older persons accommodation.
The current proposal is for a 50-bed care home which would be in class C2 use,
as opposed to the permitted use class C3 development.

8.2

Increased provision of good quality, additional specialist older persons
accommodation including dementia care is consistent with the relevant
planning policies and would make a valuable contribution to the Boroughs
housing supply.

8.3

The proposal offers a very similar form of development to the one allowed on
appeal (ref. APP/G5180/W/19/3235672), despite changes needed to
accommodate the amended residential care home use.

8.4

In terms of scale, mass, height and footprint, the proposal would not have any
greater impact upon the character and appearance of the area than the fallback
scheme and no harm to the setting of the adjoining conservation area would
result.

8.5

The proposal would appropriately respond to the constraints of the site without
resulting in any material harm to the amenities of the neighbouring residential
properties.

Page 41

8.6

The application demonstrates that the traffic and parking provision would not
have a significant impact on local highways infrastructure or road safety and
the proposed parking, access and servicing arrangements are acceptable.

8.7

The development would be acceptable in respect of environmental health,
ecology, drainage as well as energy and sustainability aspects.

8.8

Consequently, the positive impacts of the development are considered of
sufficient weight to approve the application with regard to the presumption in
favour of sustainable development to increase the housing supply in the
Borough. Subject to compliance with the recommendations in the technical
reports and implementation of the recommended works undertaken where
necessary, it is considered that the application is recommended for permission,
subject to planning conditions and completion of a S106 legal agreement.

9.

RECOMMENDATION:

PERMISSION SUBJECT TO S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT AND PLANNING
CONDITIONS.

SUMMARY OF CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES
•

Standard condition
- Time limit of 3 years
- Drawing numbers

•

pre- commencement
- slab levels
- CEMP
- SUDS
- phase 1 Habitat Survey (demolition)
- tree protection plan

•

prior to above ground works
surface water drainage
materials
landscaping
lighting scheme
kitchen extract system
cycle parking
refuse
Fire Safety Strategy
Secured by Design
PV panels

•

prior to occupation/use
- travel plan
- Visibility splay

Page 42

•

Obscure glazing
Ecology Mitigation/Enhancements
Stopping up of the existing access

compliance conditions
- Contamination (of which parts a-c have already been complied)
- Parking to be provided as approved
- Energy statement
- Non-Road Mobile Machinery
- NOx emission rate (CHP plant)
- Fixed Plant noise (inc. substation)
- Hardstanding for wash-down facilities for construction vehicles

Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant
Director of Planning
•

Informatives

1. Code of practise for Construction Sites
2. Thames Water
Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of
Planning

Page 43

This page is left intentionally blank

Appeal Decision
Hearing Held on 4 February 2020
Site visit made on 4 February 2020
by E Symmons BSc (Hons) MSc
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 03 March 2020

Appeal Ref: APP/G5180/W/19/3235672
34 West Common Road, Hayes, Bromley BR2 7BX
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Renaissance Retirement Ltd against the decision of the Council
of the London Borough of Bromley.
The application Ref DC/18/01537/FULL1, dated 29 March 2018, was refused by notice
dated 21 February 2019.
The development proposed is Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to
form 28 sheltered apartments for the elderly, including communal facilities, access, car
parking and landscaping.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for demolition of
existing buildings and redevelopment to form 28 sheltered apartments for the
elderly including communal facilities; access; car parking and landscaping at
34 West Common Road, Hayes, Bromley BR2 7BX in accordance with the terms
of application reference DC/18/01537/FULL1, dated 29 March 2018 subject to
conditions set out in the attached schedule.
Procedural Matters
2. The Statement of Common Ground includes a list of plans which the parties
consider relevant to the appeal. Plan 5724-03-A-11 Rev A which had not been
previously submitted and Plan 5724-03-A-03 Rev D were tabled, discussed and
the Council raised no concerns. During the hearing it was agreed that plan
5724-03-A-22 Rev E was unnecessary and should be disregarded in favour of
plan 5724-03-A-22 Rev D. Additionally, plans 5724-03-A-103 Rev C;
5724-03-A-110 Rev B; 5724-03-A-111 Rev B; 5724-03-A-112 Rev B;
5724-03-A-120 Rev B and 5724-03-A-121 Rev B and the officer report for a
recently granted planning permission for the appeal site reference
19/03215/FULL1, were submitted.
3. The London Borough of Bromley Local Plan 2019 (Local Plan) was recently
adopted and Policies 4 and 37 which are most relevant to this appeal are
consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework1 (The Framework) and
specifically paragraphs 127, 130 and 192 which seek that proposals are of good
design and produce proposals which make a positive contribution to local
character.
1

February 2019.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 45

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

4. The Council can only demonstrate a 4.25 year housing land supply which falls
below the five year supply required. Paragraph 11d, footnote 7 of the
Framework states that when this is the case, and as this appeal relates to the
provision of housing, the need for the proposal to be considered against
paragraph 11d is triggered. However, although the proposal must be
determined within the context of paragraph 11d, I consider the Local Plan
policies are a material consideration within this decision which carry full weight
because they are consistent with the Framework.
5. During the hearing the Appellant drew my attention to paragraph 2.1.55 within
the supporting text to Policy 4 of the Local Plan. This states that specialist
housing is exempt from housing standards set out in the London Plan. The text
however, goes on to say that a satisfactory standard of accommodation should
still be expected for specialist housing. Additionally, Policy 37 of the Local Plan
requires all development to be of a high standard of design and layout.
6. Within the Statement of Common Ground, Policies 3.10, 3.11 and 3.13 of the
London Plan and Policy 2 of the Local Plan were cited as relevant to this appeal.
During the hearing it was agreed that these were most relevant to the
submitted planning obligation made under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act, as amended. This matter is discussed later.
Main Issues
7. It became clear at the hearing that the second main issue identified on the
agenda regarding the effect of the proposal on the residential amenities of the
area did not refer to harm to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. It
related to a concern regarding an impression of enclosure caused by the
proposed building. It was agreed that this was relevant to assessment of the
proposal’s effect upon the character and appearance of the area. The main
issues are therefore:
•

the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area, and

•

how the planning balance, involving the benefits and disbenefits of the
proposed development, should be assessed.

Reasons
Character and appearance
8. The appeal site has a prominent position on the corner of West Common Road
and Ridgeway. This enclosed, redundant industrial site has six disused, singlestorey buildings with intervening areas of hard standing and an overgrown
garden area adjacent to the northern boundary. One of the buildings presents a
blank single-storey side elevation directly on to the back of the West Common
Road pavement. As observed during my site visit this wall runs more than
halfway along the site boundary and is an obtrusive feature within the
streetscape. From Ridgeway the site is set back from the highway being
physically and visually separated by an area of grass containing two tall mature
trees which partially screen views of the site from this direction.
9. The surrounding neighbourhood has a mixed but residential character. A twostorey, detached dwelling at 32 West Common Road (No 32) sits along the
north boundary, and The Knoll, a street of two-storey interwar period
dwellings, sits to the rear (west). The appeal site is not read within the context
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

2

Page 46

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

of The Knoll due to the intervening and relatively long rear gardens which
separate them. To the south of the site, on the opposite side of the West
Common Road/Ridgeway junction, is 56 West Common Road (No 56). This, in
common with the properties which run south from this corner, is a substantial
two-storey semi-detached dwelling.
10. Further north beyond No 32 there are two more modern detached properties,
The Priest House and Our Lady of the Rosary Roman Catholic Church. These
are set back from the highway behind deep landscaped areas. The building line
along West Common Road created by the site and other buildings running
northwards towards Baston Road is therefore not distinct. Opposite the site are
school playing fields which are bounded along the roadside by a line of mature
conifers which significantly filter views west towards the appeal site from this
direction. Other mature trees and shrubs in the vicinity in both private gardens
and the public realm, give a green and verdant character to the area.
11. Public views of the proposal would be from either direction along West
Common Road and from the west looking along Ridgeway. These views would
be limited due to the narrow width of West Common Road at this point and the
absence of a pavement along its east side.
12. In December 2019 planning permission was granted for demolition of existing
buildings on the appeal site and redevelopment to form 25 sheltered
apartments for the elderly, including communal facilities, access, car parking
and landscaping. The officer report for this scheme stated that although its
height and scale were considered larger than the existing buildings on the site,
the setback was sufficient to allow it to respect the established character of the
area and I concur with this view. The approved scheme was discussed at the
hearing and it was clear that it represented a credible fallback position which
has a greater than theoretical possibility of being implemented.
13. Site and elevation plans for this fallback scheme show the outline of the appeal
scheme as a dotted line. The appeal scheme would have a greater footprint and
mass than the fallback due to the presence of a northern arched element
(northern wing) and a rear, west extending part of the building. Both features
are omitted within the fallback scheme which consequently has a greater
separation from both the northern and western site boundaries.
14. In general design terms, the Council considers that the fallback scheme better
respects the built character of the semi-detached dwellings on West Common
Road. Computer generated images of the appeal scheme showing oblique views
from both the north and the south were submitted. These however,
demonstrate that the presence of the proposed projecting bays and recessed
elements facing West Common Road, would result in a similar frontage to
semi-detached dwellings in the area.
15. The difference in height between the two schemes was agreed to be less than
one metre. Additionally, the appeal scheme would have some points on the
east and west elevations which would be lower than that of the approved
scheme. I therefore do not consider that the height of the proposal would have
significantly greater impact upon the character and appearance of the area
than the fallback.
16. The Council considers that the proposal would result in an overbearing
60 metre long frontage along West Common Road. However, the front building
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 47

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

line would not be continuous as the northern wing would be set back 15 metres
from the highway. The continuous front building line would therefore comprise
a 45 metre long frontage which would be similar in scale to the fallback.
17. The relative positions of both the fallback and appeal scheme in relation to
No 32 are important. This property is set back 12 metres from West Common
Road. The proposed 15 metre setback of the northern wing would situate this
part of the proposal behind the front building line of No 32. This relationship is
slightly awkward. However, it would be mitigated by the similarity in height
between the one and a half-storey northern wing and No 32. Additionally, the
lack of a strong building line running north from No 32 towards Baston Road
would also mitigate this. In general, the appeal proposal would respect the
position, height and mass of No 32 and on balance, the northern wing would
not cause significant harm to the character and appearance of the area.
18. When the site is viewed from the south looking along West Common Road, the
current single-storey building is the most prominent feature seen. The proposal
would set the building line back around 6 metres from the pavement. This
would widen the gap between the site and the school boundary on this narrow
section of West Common Road. Although this benefit would be tempered by the
two and a half-storey height of the proposal which would be considerably taller
than the current building and to some extent visually enclose the additional
space, two factors regarding this viewpoint must be considered. Firstly, both
schemes would have a very similar scale and appearance from this view.
Secondly, both schemes would be partly screened by the two retained trees
situated between the building and the highway.
19. The Council expresses concern that the front building line of the proposal would
not respect that of No 56. As observed during my site visit, when viewed from
within West Common Road, No 56 is not read within the context of the appeal
site. This is due to the position of the appeal site which sits well forward of
No 56; to the width of the intervening junction and the presence of trees on
both sides of Ridgeway and outside No 56. Additionally, the appeal scheme
would follow a broadly similar building line to the acceptable fallback scheme
and would not appear unduly incongruous.
20. Views of the site from around the Ridgeway/West Common Road junction are
seen within the context of the relatively long rear gardens of The Knoll. When
looking down Ridgeway towards West Common Road, the site is seen against
the trees which border the school grounds. The western part of the proposal’s
frontage along Ridgeway was estimated to be around six metres greater than
the fallback. Although the proposal would be relatively close to the rear
boundary of the site at this point, this would not be particularly evident from
public views as this part of the building would be set back from, and sit at an
angle to, Ridgeway and behind the retained trees. Its prominence would
therefore be significantly reduced mitigating its impact on the streetscene.
21. The Council estimates that proposed hard standing and buildings would cover
64% of the site, with insufficient separation from the site boundaries, and this,
combined with the proposed density, would lead to a scheme which would be
cramped and have a poor layout.
22. The proposal would have a larger footprint and be closer to the site boundaries
than the fallback and have a somewhat greater impact upon the character and
appearance of the streetscape. However, for the northern wing this impact
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

4

Page 48

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

would be mitigated by its subordinate position and scale, its considerable set
back from the highway and its respect for the presence of No 32. For the
western rear part of the building, which would also be set back from the
highway, screened by trees and at an oblique angle to Ridgeway, its impact
would also be lessened. Consequently, the proposal would not significantly
harm the character and appearance of the area.
23. On balance I consider that notwithstanding the height of the building the six
metre set back of the building line along West Common Road, would improve
the openness of this narrow part of the road. Introduction of soft landscaping
along this boundary would also be an improvement on the current situation. In
terms of scale, mass, height and footprint, the proposal would not have a
significantly greater effect upon the character and appearance of the area than
the fallback scheme.
24. Having regard to all of the above points, I conclude that the proposed
development would not have a harmful impact upon the character and
appearance of the area. The proposal would therefore not conflict with Policies
4 and 37 of the Local Plan. These policies require development to recognise
and complement the qualities of the surrounding area regarding site layout,
other buildings and surrounding space, and be of an appropriate scale and
proportion, making a positive contribution to the streetscape. Nor is there
conflict with Policies 7.4 or 7.6 of the London Plan which require proposals to
have regard to architectural quality, orientation, scale, proportion and
composition.
Planning Obligation
25. A signed Section 106 Agreement was submitted prior to the hearing. I consider
that this adequately addressed the matters of affordable housing, carbon offsetting and healthcare contributions. These contributions have been justified by
the Council and are appropriate to mitigate the impact of the proposal.
Appropriate planning balance
26. In addition to the policies referred to in the reasons for refusal, the Appellant
considers that other policies and guidance within the Local Plan; the London
Plan; The Mayor of London Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance 2016;
the Framework and the Housing for Older and Disabled People National
Planning Policy Guidance 2019 (PPG) also carry weight and support the
proposal.
27. These policies and documents acknowledge and support the need for specialist
dwellings of this type and redevelopment of windfall sites for housing.
Additionally, paragraph 123 of the Framework states that where there is an
existing shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs, decisions should
avoid homes being built at low densities assuming that acceptable living
conditions can be met. Furthermore, paragraph 0162 of the Housing for Older
and Disabled People PPG states that Local Authorities should take a positive
approach to schemes if there is an identified unmet need.
28. The proposal would deliver 28 specialist retirement properties within Bromley,
three more than the fallback. This would contribute towards a target of 205
specialist units per year set out within Annex 5 of the London Plan and the
2

Paragraph: 016 Reference ID: 63-016-20190626. Revision date: 26 June 2019.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 49

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

Council’s Older Persons Accommodation Evidence Base 20163 and the
supporting text to Policy 11 of the Local Plan. The Council does not have figures
available regarding progress towards delivery of this target. This proposal
would make a modest but important contribution to supply of this type of
housing.
29. In conclusion, substantial evidence has been provided to establish the national
and local need for housing of this type with policy support for its delivery.
Therefore, within the planning balance these benefits of the proposed
development carry significant weight.
Conditions
30. The conditions set out in the accompanying schedule are based on those
discussed at the hearing. These conditions have been considered against the
tests of the Framework and advice provided by the PPG on conditions4. I have
undertaken some minor editing and rationalisation in the interests of precision
and clarity. Those included in the schedule are found to be reasonable and
necessary in the circumstances of this case. Some of the conditions are precommencement and these were agreed in writing within the Statement of
Common Ground and verbally at the hearing.
31. For certainty, conditions have been included regarding time for implementation
and approved plans. Conditions regarding details of materials have been
included, as has a requirement for submission of existing site and proposed
slab levels. This will ensure the development has a satisfactory form and does
not harm the character and appearance of the area. Similarly, a condition to
ensure provision and retention of refuse and recycling storage facilities has
been included in the interests of residential and visual amenity.
32. Conditions have been added to reduce the impact of flooding arising from
surface water; implement a sustainable drainage hierarchy; to identify visibility
splays; stop-up the existing site access and further detail parking and turning
spaces. These will ensure highway safety and reduce the impact of the proposal
on other highway users. To reduce reliance upon private cars a condition has
been imposed to ensure and retain suitable cycle parking facilities. A lighting
scheme has been submitted for the access and car parking area however, I
have included a condition to ensure that it is of a suitable standard and is
retained to ensure the safety of site users.
33. In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and for
highway safety, conditions requiring production and implementation of a
construction and environmental management plan and a highway cleaning
scheme, have been included.
34. To ensure that biodiversity and protected species are safeguarded a condition
has been included which requires implementation of recommendations
contained within the Phase 1 Habitat Survey. Submission, implementation and
monitoring of tree protection details has been required to ensure the longevity
of retained trees within the development. A landscaping scheme has been
submitted, however, a condition requiring hard and soft landscaping details has
been included to ensure that the proposals achieve a suitable standard of
specification, implementation, management and retention.
3
4

Older Persons Accommodation - Draft Submission Local Plan evidence base. London Borough of Bromley 2016.
Guidance. Use of Planning Conditions. Last updated 23 July 2019.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

6

Page 50

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

35. To provide and retain specialist accommodation and ensure the living
conditions of future occupiers, conditions to ensure appropriate building
regulations and retention of specialist units, have been included.
36. Finally, during the hearing a condition was proposed regarding measures to be
taken to ensure security and crime prevention for the residential units. This
was discussed and amended with omission of the final clause.
Conclusion
37. The proposal must be determined within the context of paragraph 11d of the
Framework which states that permission should be granted unless any adverse
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits
when assessed against the policies in the Framework when taken as a whole.
38. The delivery of specialist housing for which there is a national and local need,
although a modest number, carries significant weight. The parties agree that
the materials and architectural detailing are acceptable, there would be no
adverse impact on the living conditions of neighbouring or future occupiers and
when compared with the current situation, use as retirement accommodation is
more consistent with the residential character of the area. When considered
within the context of the credible fallback position, the proposal would not have
a significantly greater impact upon the character and appearance of the area
and does not conflict with the Local Plan. There is therefore a presumption in
favour of this development.
39. As the proposal would support the policies of the Local Plan and the Framework
when taken as a whole, the appeal is allowed.

E Symmons
INSPECTOR
SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS
1)

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years
from the date of this decision.

2)

The development permitted by this planning permission shall not
commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the site based on
sustainable drainage principles, and an assessment of the hydrological
and hydro geological context of the development has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The surface
water drainage strategy should seek to implement a SUDS hierarchy that
achieves reductions in surface water run-off rates to Greenfield rates in
line with the Preferred Standard of the Mayor's London Plan.

3)

(a) Surface water from private land shall not discharge on to the
highway.
(b) Prior to the commencement of above ground works details of the
drainage system for surface water drainage to prevent the discharge of

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7

Page 51

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

surface water from private land on to the highway shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(c) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is first
occupied, the drainage system shall be completed in accordance with the
details approved under Part (b) and shall be retained permanently
thereafter.
4)

Before any of the development is first occupied, details of the visibility
splay shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and those approved works should be implemented and
thereafter retained in perpetuity.

5)

The existing access shall be stopped up at the back edge of the highway
before any part of the development hereby permitted is first occupied in
accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved enclosure shall be permanently
retained as such and the footway/verge reinstated as approved.

6)

Before commencement of the use of the land or building hereby
permitted, parking spaces and/or garages and turning space shall be
completed in accordance with the details as set out in this planning
permission. Thereafter these shall be kept available for such use and no
permitted development, whether permitted by the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order (England) 2015 (or any
Order amending, revoking and re-enacting this Order) or not, shall be
carried out on the land or garages indicated or in such a position as to
preclude vehicular access to the said land or garages.

7)

(a) Details of a scheme to light the access drive and car parking areas
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of above ground
works.
(b) The approved scheme shall be self-certified to accord with
BS 5489-1:2003.
(c) The lighting scheme shall be implemented in full accordance with
details submitted under Part (a) before the development is first occupied
and the lighting shall be permanently retained thereafter.

8)

No development shall commence on site (including demolition) until such
time as a Construction and Environmental Management Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. As
a minimum the plan shall cover:
(a) Dust mitigation and management measures.
(b) The location and operation of plant and an area of hard standing for
wheel washing facilities.
(c) Measures to reduce demolition and construction noise.
(d) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative
impacts which shall demonstrate the following:
(i) Rationalise travel and traffic routes to, from and within the site.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

8

Page 52

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

(ii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction related activity.
(iii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.
(iv) Full contact details of the site and project manager responsible for
day-to-day management of the works.
(v) Parking for operatives during the construction period.
(vi) A swept path drawing for any tight manoeuvres on vehicle routes
to and from the site including proposed access and egress
arrangements at the site boundary.
(e) Hours of operation.
(f) The development shall be undertaken in full accordance with the
details approved under Parts a–e.
(g) Any accidental accumulation of mud on the highway caused by such
vehicles shall be removed without delay and in no circumstances be left
behind at the end of the working day.
9)

(a) Details of arrangements for bicycle parking (including covered storage
facilities where appropriate) shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction of any above ground
works
(b) The arrangements as approved under part (a) shall be completed
before any part of the development hereby permitted is first occupied,
and permanently retained thereafter.

10)

(a) Details of arrangements for storage of refuse and recyclable materials
(including means of enclosure for the area concerned where necessary)
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to construction of any above ground works.
(b) The arrangements as approved under Part (a) shall be completed
before any part of the development hereby permitted is first occupied,
and permanently retained thereafter.

11)

Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, as set out
in the phase 1 Habitat Survey (July-August 2017) an ecologist must
check for nesting birds and bats before any clearance or demolition is
begun on site. Garden clearance and demolition of the buildings must
take place outside the bird nesting season (March–August inclusive), or
an ecologist must check the site for nesting birds immediately before
work commences. If during any works nesting birds or bats are found to
be present, then an additional habitat survey should be completed, and
an appropriate remediation scheme submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval in writing.

12)

(a) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved
(including demolition and all preparatory work), a scheme for the
protection of the retained trees, in accordance with BS 5837:2012,
including a tree protection plan (TPP) and an arboricultural method
statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

9

Page 53

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

Specific issues to be dealt with in the TPP and AMS:
i) Location and installation of services/utilities/ drainage.
ii) Methods of demolition within the root protection area (RPA as
defined in BS 5837:2012) of the retained trees.
iii) Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the
retained trees.
iv) A full specification for the installation of boundary treatment
works.
v) A full specification for the construction of any roads, parking areas
and driveways, including details of the no-dig specification and extent
of the areas of the roads, parking areas and driveways to be
constructed using a no-dig specification. Details shall include relevant
sections through them.
vi) Detailed levels and cross-sections to show that the raised levels of
surfacing, where the installation of no-dig surfacing within RPAs is
proposed, demonstrating that they can be accommodated where they
meet with any adjacent building damp proof courses.
vii) A specification for protective fencing to safeguard trees during
both demolition and construction phases and a plan indicating the
alignment of the protective fencing.
viii) A specification for scaffolding and ground protection within RPAs.
ix) Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP, and
construction and construction activities clearly identified with signage
as prohibited in this area.
x) Details of site access, temporary parking, on-site welfare facilities,
loading, unloading and storage of equipment, materials, fuels and
waste as well as concrete mixing and use of fires.
xi) Methodology and detailed assessment of root pruning.
xii) Arboricultural supervision and inspection by a suitably qualified
tree specialist.
xiii) Reporting schedule for and details of inspection and supervision.
xiv) Methods to improve the rooting environment for retained and
proposed trees and landscaping.
(b) The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict
accordance with the approved details.
13)

Details of the materials to be used for the external surfaces of the
building, including all windows and doors, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any works are
commenced. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

14)

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
the application plans, drawings and documents as detailed below:
Location Plan 5724-03-A-01; Block Plan 5724-03-A-02; Proposed Site
Plan 5724-03-A-03; Ground Floor Plan 5724-03-A-10 Rev A; First Floor
5724-03-A-11 Rev A; Second Floor 5724-03-A12; Roof Plan

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

10

Page 54

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

5724-03-A-13 Rev A; North and West Elevations 5724-03-A-21 Rev D;
South and East Building Elevations 5724-03-A-20 Rev D; Street Scene
5724-03-A-22 Rev D; Proposed Substation 5724-03-A-25 Rev A; Existing
Survey AD/1603056; Tree Constraints Plan 17211-BT1; Planting Plan
PP001; Landscape Plan LANDP001; Planting Maintenance Schedule;
Lighting Plan LP001 and Lighting Plan LP002.
15)

a) Prior to commencement of above ground works details of treatment of
all parts on the site not covered by buildings shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site shall be
landscaped strictly in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting season after completion or first occupation of the development,
whichever is the sooner. Details shall include:
(i) A scaled plan showing all existing vegetation to be retained and
trees and plants to be planted which shall include use of a minimum of
30% native plant species of home grown stock and no invasive
species.
(ii) Proposed hardstanding and boundary treatment.
(iii) A schedule detailing sizes and numbers of all proposed
trees/plants.
(iv) Sufficient specification to endure successful establishment and
survival of new planting.
(b) There shall be no excavation or raising or lowering of levels within the
prescribed RPA of retained trees unless agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
(c) Any new tree(s) that die(s), are/is removed or become(s) severely
damaged or diseased shall be replaced and any new planting (other than
trees) which dies, is removed, becomes severely damaged or diseased
within five years of planting shall be replaced. Unless further specific
permission has been given by the Local Planning Authority, replacement
planting shall be in accordance with the approved details.

16)

Prior to commencement of development (excluding demolition) details of
the proposed slab levels of the building(s) and the existing site levels
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be completed strictly in accordance with
the approved levels.

17)

The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the
criteria set out in Building Regulations M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’
for the units identified in the application as wheelchair units and shall be
permanently retained thereafter. All other units shall be built in
accordance with Building Regulations M4(2) and shall be permanently
retained thereafter.

18)

(a) The development hereby permitted shall incorporate measures to
minimise the risk of crime and to meet the specific needs of the
application site and development. No above ground construction shall
take place until details of such measures have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(b) The approved measures shall be implemented before the
development is occupied.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

11

Page 55

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

19)

The apartments within the building hereby approved shall, unless
otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority in writing, be used
solely for the designed purpose of providing self-contained independent
living units of accommodation for person or persons who, for the purpose
of acquiring purchase or lease of any of the approved apartments will
have a minimum age of not less than 60 years old (or a spouse/or
partner (who are themselves over 55 years old) living as part of a single
household with such a person or persons). The building shall not be used
or occupied for any other purpose (including equivalent provision in Class
C3 of the Schedule of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes)
Order 1987 or any equivalent provision, and notwithstanding the
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order (2015) and no permitted changes of use shall occur,
unless express written permission of the Local Planning Authority has
been obtained.
END OF SCHEDULE

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

12

Page 56

Appeal Decision APP/G5180/W/19/3235672

APPEARANCES
FOR THE APPELLANT:
Ms Heather Sargent
Mr James Green
Ms Christine McNulty BA(Hons) DipTP MRTPI
Ms Annabel Prentice

Landmark Chambers
Williams Lester Ltd
Pegasus Group
Lifestory

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Mr David Bord

London Borough of Bromley

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE HEARING
•
•
•
•
•

Plan 5724-03-A-11 Rev A.
Plan 5724-03-A-03 Rev D.
London Borough of Bromley officer report for application 19/03215/FULL1.
Plans 5724-03-A-103 Rev C; 5724-03-A-110 Rev B; 5724-03-A-111 Rev B;
5724-03-A-112 Rev B; 5724-03-A-120 Rev B and 5724-03-A-121 Rev B
relating to application 19/03215/FULL1.
A list of four additional planning conditions, three of which had previously
been agreed by the Appellant.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

13

Page 57

This page is left intentionally blank

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.
13 July 2021

1:1250

Page 59

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 4.2
Committee Date

22.07.2021

Address

Hoblingwell Wood Recreation Ground
Leesons Way
Orpington
Officer – Robin Evans

Application
Number

20/02548/FULL1

Ward

Cray Valley West

Proposal

Construction of asphalt bicycle/skating track; including landscaped
mounds/berms, a cycle teaching area, stationing of two shipping
containers for equipment storage and welfare facilities, new/relocated footpaths and hard surfaces, benches, refuse bins, bicycle
racks, signage and soft landscaping/planting/orchard and drainage
system.

Applicant
Mr Joe McTague

Agent
Ms Elsie Josland

3 Durham Yard
E2 6QF

87 Bayston Road
Stoke Newington
Hackney
London
N16 7NB

Reason for referral to
committee

Councillor Call-In
Outside delegated powers –
Council owned land.

RECOMMENDATION

No

PERMISSION

KEY DESIGNATIONS
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area
London City Airport Safeguarding
Smoke Control SCA 17
Urban Open Space
Land use Details
Use Class or Use
description

Floor space (GIA SQM)

Existing

D1/F2(c)

4870

Proposed

D1/F2(c)

4870

Page 61

Vehicle parking

Existing number
of spaces

Total proposed
including spaces
retained

Difference in spaces
(+or-)

Standard car spaces

58

58

0

Disabled car spaces

0

0

0

Cycle
Representation
summary

Neighbour letters were sent 5/8/2020
A press advert was published on 12/8/2020
A Site Notice was displayed on 14/8/2020

Total number of responses
Number in support
Number of objections

1.

34
28
6

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
 The proposal would provide an outdoor sporting/recreational facility and would not
have an adverse impact on the Urban Open Space or result in the loss of playing
pitches
 The development would not result in an unacceptable impact on the character and
appearance of the recreation ground or wider area
 Subject to conditions, the proposal would not have an unacceptable adverse impact
on the amenities of neighbouring residential properties
 No adverse highway impacts are anticipated
 The proposal is acceptable with regard to the impact on biodiversity and an
acceptable drainage scheme can be secured by condition

2.

LOCATION

2.1

The application site relates to Hoblingwell Recreation Ground, located on the
northern side of Leeson’s Way, St Paul’s Cray, Orpington, at the junctions with
Petersham Drive and Chipperfield Road. The recreation ground comprises formal
sports pitches at the eastern side abutting Chipperfield Road; served by a
pavilion/clubhouse in the centre of the grounds, other open playing fields abutting
the northern sides of Petersham Drive and Leeson’s Way and an extensive wooded
area at its western side abutting the western side of Leeson’s Way and the eastern
side of St Paul’s Wood Hill. The access is via an entrance off the northern side of
Leeson’s Way and leads to the sports pavilion(s), car park MUGA sports court and
formal children’s playground enclosed by clusters of trees. The land slopes
downwards from south to north and west to east with the contour/slope of the
hillside.

2.2

The area is residential in nature; characterised mainly by two-storey terraced and
semidetached dwellings with some flatted development on the main roads to the

Page 62

north east and some more spacious estates of detached dwellings. The application
site comprises an area of Urban Open Space and the wooded section of the
recreation ground “Hoblingwell Wood” is a Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation.
2.3

The application site lies within a TfL PTAL 0-1b rated area with access to bus
services on Chipperfield Road, linking to Midfield Way and then to A224 Sevenoaks
Way.

Fig 1 Site location plan.

Photo 1 Hoblingwell Recreation Ground “pump track” application
site (looking east towards Chipperfield Road).

Page 63

Photo 2 Hoblingwell Recreation Ground “pump track” application
site (looking west towards Hoblingwell Wood).

Photo 3 Hoblingwell Recreation Ground application site “pump
track” and orchard application site (looking west towards
Hoblingwell Wood).

Page 64

Photo 4 Hoblingwell Recreation Ground “learn to ride area”
application site (adjacent to and looking north towards the existing
MUGA).

Aerial photo 1 Hoblingwell Recreation Ground full application site.
3.
3.1

PROPOSAL
Planning permission is sought for construction of asphalt bicycle/skating track;
including landscaped mounds/berms, a cycle teaching area, stationing of two
shipping containers for equipment storage and welfare facilities, new/re-located

Page 65

footpaths and hard surfaces, benches, refuse bins, bicycle racks, signage and soft
landscaping/planting/orchard and drainage system. The originally proposed
perimeter fencing around the recreation ground has been omitted due to budgetary
constraints (the bike track and works are charity funded) and also as it is not in the
remit, responsibility or gift of this Applicant and this proposal to provide the fence.
However, it is understood that the Council intends to erect a perimeter fence around
the recreation ground as a separate project in any event.
3.2

The application is supported by:

Application form,

Application drawings,

Planning/Design Statement,

Arboricultural Statement/Tree Constraints Plan,

Method of Construction Statement,

Statement of Community Involvement,

Secure by Design features,

Fig 2 Proposed site layout.

Page 66

Fig 3 Example of “pump cycle track”.

Fig 4 Example of “learn to cycle track”.
4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1

83/00541/FUL – Erection of single storey extensions to clubhouse was approved
on 30 June 1983.

4.2

90/00009/FUL – Erection of four floodlights to sports pitch was approved on 28
June 1990.

Page 67

4.3

5.

03/04128/FULL1 – Renewal and upgrading of pitch floodlighting was approved on
15 January 2004.
CONSULTATION SUMMARY

5.1

A) Statutory

5.1.1

Sport England – No objection
The area of land proposed to be used for a bicycle/skating track is adjacent to
playing fields, however it is not capable of forming part of a playing field itself due
to its size, shape and the fact that a footpath crosses it. Sport England is satisfied
that the proposed development meets exception 3 of its playing fields policy i.e. that
it would not result in the loss of a pitch, the reduction in size of a pitch or otherwise
impede or prejudice the use of a pitch. Sport England raises no objection although
recommends that British Cycling is consulted to ensure that the facility is built to an
appropriate standard.

5.1.2

British Cycling – No comments received

5.1.3

Highways – No objection
It would seem unlikely that many people would drive to use the facility although
younger users may be dropped off. There is a sizeable car park within the
recreation ground. It would seem unlikely that the proposal would have a significant
impact on the highway.

5.2

B) Local Groups

5.2.1

Friends of Hoblingwell
Friends of Hoblingwell supports projects that improve and provide facilities for
residents and community of St Paul’s Cray:

Proposal would offer a healthy sports facility for children/young people,

Proposed track would complement the character of the park/playing fields,

Notwithstanding the hard surfacing/built form, containers and fencing the park
would still retain its overall open nature,

Fencing would complement the existing fencing,

Additional built form should be balance this against the social/health benefits,

If permission is granted the proposal should have a management plan
covering:

Hours of operation: summer 0900-2100, winter 1000-1700,

Noise disturbance should be considered,

Fencing to the cycle facility should be roust and resistant to vandalism,

Knee high fencing should be provided around the entire park/wood to
deter motorcycles on to the overall park and the cycle track,

Construction management including hours of operation, daily
construction site maintenance, wheel washing, re-instatement of any
damage to the playing fields,

Page 68

5.2.2

Residents’ Association

The Cray area(s) are recognised as areas of deprivation with associated
health issues,

Proposal would provide a much-welcomed family activity area, encouraging
outdoor sport and activity for a healthy lifestyle,

Proposal would form a new cycle, offering future opportunity for events,

Proposed wildlife area would encourage learning of wildlife,

5.3 C) Adjoining Occupiers
5.3.1

Support

5.3.1.1 General (addressed in Section 7.1, 7.2, 7.3)

No objection in principle,

Principle of a facility for young people is supported

Proposal would provide a facility to help with youth work, social care and would
promote healthy lifestyle and a positive active way for young people to
congregate rather than hanging around,

Proposal would help the Council to meet the cycling mode share in its transport
strategy,

Proposal would provide a safe play and exercise space; away from
roads/traffic and without risk of theft of bicycles,

Proposal would encourage and support the positive use of the park for the
majority; reducing antisocial behaviour by the minority disrupting it for
everyone else,

Proposal would provide a sense of pride and community,

Proposal would be closer than the nearest bike track at Gravesend,

Measures should be included to deter antisocial behaviour and vandalism,
5.3.2

Objection

5.3.2.1 General (addressed in Section 7.1, 7.2, 7.3)

Application details (drawings – blue dotted line) is unclear,

No public consultation/community engagement or little notice of the
consultation event prior to the planning application and was mainly internet
based,

Unclear if the facility would be free to use,

No guarantee the development would be well used (properly used) and could
become disused/derelict,

Orpington Rugby Club’s buildings could be repaired and used instead of
shipping containers,

Development could affect property values,

Proposal would exacerbate existing antisocial behaviour in the park,

Motorbikes already ride across the playing fields causing antisocial behaviour
and damage; unchecked by the Police,

Proposal would encourage illegal motorbike riding,

Page 69






Design/layout of the track would not discourage persistent motorcyclists,
Lack of fencing would allow unauthorised access,
Proposal is unnecessary and not needed,
Proposed orchard may improve the maintenance of trees/light to neighbouring
properties,

5.3.2.2 Design and landscaping (addressed in Section 7.4)

Shipping containers would look industrial and unattractive,

Proposal would be an eyesore,

Containers could be placed in the existing walled structure,

Removal of fencing would improve appearance,
5.3.2.3 Residential Amenities (addressed in Section 7.5)

Antisocial behaviour (noise, litter, loitering, motorbikes) is already increasing,

Proposal could encourage antisocial behaviour and the park would be less
attractive for majority of users,

Additional antisocial behaviour would discourage children from using the
existing park/playground etc.

Facility should be positioned further away from neighbouring dwellings,

Proposal would detract from views of the park, including from commemorative
benches,

Existing trees have not been maintained and block light to neighbouring
properties and damage neighbouring fences,

Proposed orchard (close to Chorleywood Crescent) may block light to
neighbouring residents,

Proposed orchard would not block sound and noise,

Law enforcement should patrol the area now and upon construction to
maintain order,
5.3.2.4 Highways and parking (addressed in Section 7.6)

The proposal would increase footfall and traffic,
5.4

D) Other

5.4.1

Clarion Futures (Charitable Foundation – providing funding to the project)
The proposal has involved the Metropolitan Police’s St Mary Cray Safer
Neighbourhood Team consultation with local primary schools; “identifying
diversionary" activities that could take place in order to prevent anti-social
behaviour, and consultation with local partners including Bromley Youth Service,
Cray Forum. The proposal would offer families, young people, people with
disabilities and adults the chance to learn how to ride safely, offer a space for fun
activity and educate children and young people around the safe and responsible
use of non-motorised bikes. Similar projects such as Lordship Recreation Ground
in Haringey is well used and well supported and has provided a huge benefit to the
local area. The Hoblingwell proposal will have a minimal impact on existing users

Page 70

and local residents, the introduction of a facility will increase footfall and reduce antisocial behaviour and will offer the opportunity for local services to directly engage
with young people who lack facilities to occupy themselves in the local area.
6.

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

6.1

National Policy Framework 2019

6.2

NPPG

6.3

The London Plan 2021
D4 Delivering good design
D8 Public realm
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
G7 Trees and woodlands
SI13 Sustainable drainage
T1 Strategic approach to transport
T5 Cycling
T6 Car parking

6.4

Mayor Supplementary Guidance
Providing for Children and Young People's Play and Informal Recreation (2012)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction (2014)
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Character and Context (2014)

6.5

Bromley Local Plan 2019
20 Community Facilities
21 Opportunities for Community Facilities
26 Health and Wellbeing
30 Parking
32 Road Safety
33 Access for all
37 General Design of Development
55 Urban Open Space
57 Outdoor Recreation and Leisure
58 Outdoor Sport, Recreation and Play
60 Public Rights of Way and other Recreational Routes
69 Development and Nature Conservation Sites
70 Wildlife Features
70 Protected Species
73 Development and Trees
74 Conservation and Management of Trees and Woodlands
77 Landscape Quality and Character
79 Biodiversity and Access to Nature
116 Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems
119 Noise Pollution
122 Light Pollution
123 Sustainable Design and Construction

Page 71

6.6

7.

Bromley Supplementary Guidance
SPG1 – General Design Principles
ASSESSMENT

7.1

Procedural matters

7.1.1

The application details are clear and allow the public to view and consider the
proposal and the Council to determine the planning application. The Council shall
assess the application as shown and put before it and cannot consider other matters
or elements not shown within the application details.

7.1.2

The Council publicised the application in accordance with its adopted standards
including writing to neighbouring properties directly abutting the application site,
displaying site notices and publishing press advert.

7.1.3

The effect of new development on property values is not a material planning
consideration.

7.1.4

The other matters raised in representations are noted however they are either not
material planning considerations and/or they do not alter the Council’s conclusions.

7.2

Principle and location of development

7.2.1

The site lies within an area of Urban Open Space (UOS) where development may
be acceptable subject to certain provisions/criteria and this will be assessed in
further detail. The proposal is subject to an assessment of the impact on the
appearance/character of the site, the surrounding area, the residential amenity of
adjoining occupiers, car parking and traffic implications, heritage and ecological
impacts.

7.3

Urban Open Space – Acceptable

7.3.1

The primary purpose of Urban Open Space (UOS) Policy is to protect the open
character of the smaller open spaces within otherwise built up areas to preserve the
open contribution that they provide in these areas and any new development on
them is subject to careful consideration and certain specified parameters.

7.3.2

According to the application details and site observations the application site
includes a miscellaneous hard surfaced area, adjoining the existing playground area
and hard surfaced multi-use games area (MUGA), and part of the grassed area
directly to the north of the MUGA, although it does not appear to form a formally laid
or marked out sports pitch or playing field. Indeed, Sport England advises that the
application site is not capable of forming part of a playing field itself due to its size,
shape and the fact that a footpath crosses it and as such Sport England is satisfied
that the proposed development meets exception 3 of its playing fields policy i.e. that
it would not result in the loss of a pitch, the reduction in size of a pitch or otherwise
impede or prejudice the use of a pitch. Sport England raises no objection although
recommends that British Cycling is consulted to ensure that the facility is built to an
appropriate standard. Although British Cycling has been consulted it has not

Page 72

commented and notwithstanding this, the Applicant/Developer can be advised of
Sport England and British Cycling’s design and construction standards.
7.3.3

The current proposal would provide some additional "built development" however it
would primarily comprise a “playing surface” albeit in the form of a hard surfaced
track. There would also be some other associated features such as the storage
containers and ancillary items which would have some physical/built form and mass
and may have a greater effect on openness than the surfaces. However, the track
development and associated equipment/apparatus would be relatively low height
and scale, and which would reduce its visual impact. The proposal would also
introduce an area of orchard trees in the place of some of the existing grass area
thereby strengthening and supporting the openness.

7.3.4

Notwithstanding this, the proposal would not result in the loss of open space,
moreover it would reorganise and re-purpose some of the existing open space. The
proposal directly relates to the existing allocated use of this land as a public
recreation ground and it would continue to support outdoor sport and recreational
use. The proposal would have a different visual appearance and impact than the
existing grass area however it has been sensitively designed placing part of the
track on an existing hard surfaced area, siting the storage containers closer to the
existing built form, while still providing a functional cycle track.

7.3.5

For these reasons, and mainly because the proposed facility would be positioned
on or close to the existing pitches/courts it would not unduly impair the open nature
of this existing part of the site.

7.3.6

Although the proposal would remove some of the existing open grass space the
space itself is in a relatively enclosed and less open part of the wider recreation
ground. Furthermore, there are other more open areas of the recreation ground
directly to the to the west and south east of the pavilion and playground area, that
do not appear to form part of the formal sports pitches, and which have a more open
character and more effectively perform that open role than the part for the proposed
development and would remain open and available for the users of the open space.
Furthermore, as the proposal would not be positioned on the formal sports pitches
it would no occupy or compromise the use of the existing formal sports pitches. For
these reasons there would be no conflict with Policy 55.

7.3.7

The application site does not lie within the Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land
(MOL) and therefore Policy 57 does not technically apply however, as concluded
above, the proposal would nonetheless provide an appropriate sports/recreation
facility.

7.3.8

There would be no complete loss of the sports/recreation facility and nonetheless
the space to be reorganised/redeveloped would benefit from an improved facility
that would be usable for a greater proportion of the year; thereby improving the
quality and the consistency of its use, and as such there would be no conflict with
Policy 58.

Page 73

7.4

Design and landscaping – Acceptable

7.4.1

Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should
contribute positively to making places better for people.

7.4.2

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF (2018) states that the creation of high quality buildings
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to
communities.

7.4.3

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2018) requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure
that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not
just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development; are visually attractive
as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping
and are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities). New development
shall also establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and
distinctive places to live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to
accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development
(including green and other public space) and support local facilities and transport
networks; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine
the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

7.4.4

London Plan and Bromley Local Plan policies further reinforce the principles of the
NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality design.

7.4.5

By its nature the proposed cycle track and its supporting features would have a
different appearance within the wider recreation ground however the application site
is large and the proposal would be comfortably accommodated within it and it would
not appear overdeveloped or cramped in this respect. The track and supporting
equipment/features would be low height and scale and would not appear unduly
prominent within the recreation ground. Furthermore, it would be viewed in context
to and in connection with the pavilion and other sports/play features. The proposed
design and external materials would be appropriate to the function of the
development and to the site and the proposed location of the development on the
site. The proposed external materials could be managed by planning condition.

7.4.6

The proposal would involve the removal of some trees particularly near to the north
eastern corner of the existing children’s’ playground however this would not
significantly diminish the character and appearance of the site. The proposed tree
planting would mitigate the tree removals and along with the proposed orchard area
would overall maintain the landscape character of the recreation ground. There is
no objection from the Council’s Tree Officer subject to recommended conditions.

Page 74

7.4.7

The Metropolitan Police Service audit identified potential issues and points for
improvement at the recreation ground, such as the provision of a perimeter fence
around the sports pitches and/or around the whole recreation ground to deter
ongoing unauthorised motorcycle riding, harm to the public and damage to the
pitches. As mentioned, the Applicant has omitted the initially proposed perimeter
fencing mostly due to budgetary constraints (as the Applicant and the proposal is
charity funded) and partly as it is not the object, responsibility or within the gift of
this proposal to provide such a feature for the wider use and benefit of the recreation
ground. Nonetheless the Council’s Parks Department advises that it intends to
provide perimeter fencing to the recreation ground under another project which
would address this issue. Notwithstanding this, in relation to the proposed cycle
track the Metropolitan Police advises that the proposal may seek to meet the aims
and achieve Secure by Design accreditation in order to minimise the opportunity for
crime and this could be managed by planning condition.

7.5

Neighbourhood Residential Amenity – Acceptable

7.5.1

Policies 6 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan seek to protect existing residential
occupiers from inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a
development proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss
of light, overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and
disturbance.

7.5.2

The recreation ground is bordered by residential properties, the closest to the
application being those in Chorleywood Crescent and Leesons Way. The current
proposal would not change the use or function of the land which would continue to
be a public recreation ground and it would not change its location. As such the land
use (in planning terms) and the proximity to neighbouring properties would remain
the same as the existing situation, although the particular activity carried out in this
part of the recreation ground may change and would become more formalised by
the proposed cycle track development.

7.5.3

Any new development is likely to have an effect on the neighbouring properties
within the local area however the main consideration is whether that effect would
be acceptable or not. Furthermore, planning system does not generally protect or
preserve "views" (except for important strategic views) although the effect of new
development on “outlook” is a material planning consideration. The proposed
development would be visible from neighbouring properties; particularly those to the
north in Chorleywood Crescent. Notwithstanding this the degree of separation;
measuring approximately 45m at the closest point, together with the height and
scale of the proposed structures and the existing and proposed trees and vegetation
in between; and the proposed orchard trees themselves would not have a
significantly harmful impact on the outlook of neighbouring properties through
overbearing effect and it would not result in significantly harmful overshadowing.
Given that the proposed surface would be at or close to the existing ground level
and would be screened to an extent by existing and proposed trees and vegetation
it would be unlikely to lead to additional significantly harmful overlooking.

7.5.4

The land would continue to be used for sports and recreation; this would inevitably
involve a level of noise, and this is to be expected at sites such parks and recreation

Page 75

grounds, with the informal social sports and play activities and the formal/organised
sports such as rugby and football. Indeed there are existing sports courts/pitches
including the hard surfaced MUGA and grass rugby/football sports pitches near to
the existing residential properties with some noise effects such as the bouncing of
balls against the ground surface and the fencing, voices/calling and whistles and
other general sporting and playing sounds. The proposal would introduce some
additional hard surfacing, although some of it is likely to be a cushioned “soft-play”
type surface, however it would nonetheless not differ significantly from the use of
the current MUGA and other sports pitches and areas around the recreation ground
in this respect. Notwithstanding this, a management plan detailing the operation of
the facility could be secured by planning condition as necessary.
7.5.5

The application details do not indicate lighting for the track, and this could be
managed by planning condition as necessary.

7.5.6

Notwithstanding representations received the proposal would not necessarily
directly lead to additional antisocial behaviour as compared with the existing
playground/MUGA and grassed areas of the application site. Indeed, as mentioned
in some other representations, there is the use of the land and activity and
associated surveillance may discourage antisocial behaviour.

7.5.7

On this basis with the use of appropriate planning conditions the proposal, on
balance, would not have an unacceptable effect on the residential amenities of
neighbouring properties..

7.6

Transport: highways and parking – Acceptable

7.6.1

The NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability
and health objectives. The NPPF clearly states that transport issues should be
considered from the earliest stage of both plan making and when formulating
development proposals and development should only be prevented or refused on
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe.

7.6.2

The NPPF states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of
movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should
be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely
impacts of the proposal can be assessed.

7.6.3

London Plan and Bromley Local Plan Policies encourage sustainable transport
modes whilst recognising the need for appropriate parking provision. Car parking
standards within the London Plan and Bromley Local Plan should be used as a
basis for assessment.

7.6.4

The application site lies within the a relatively low PTAL 0-1a rated area although
the access routes to the recreation ground lie within a 1b-2 rated area.
Notwithstanding this, however, given the nature of the proposal and its location the
users of the facility are likely to be from the local area, young and less likely to drive,
and are likely to arrive on foot or by bicycle. Nonetheless there is a sizeable car park

Page 76

within the recreation ground which would serve the application site and the
proposed development, and the development is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the highway or parking. Construction vehicles/plant/machinery should be
managed during the construction period. There is no objection from the Council’s
Highway Department subject to recommended conditions/informatives.
7.7

Ecology and biodiversity – Acceptable

7.7.1

The western part of the recreation ground, and specifically the woodland area
known as Hoblingwell Wood, is a designated Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation. As mentioned, the application site is a well maintained/manicured
grassed area less likely to offer suitable wildlife habitat than the wooded areas and
more roughly maintained grassed areas, although given its proximity and open
nature it could still offer suitable foraging and commuting habitat for wildlife. The
proposed meadow style landscaping, tree planting and orchard would provide
improvements and gains for biodiversity and other biodiversity enhancements can
be secured by planning condition. There is no objection from Natural England
although it would be prudent to ensure that any demolition, site clearance and tree
removals are carried out outside the nesting season and in accordance with Natural
England’s precautionary approach to ensure wildlife is not present and/or has the
opportunity to leave in good time and the Applicant/Developer can be reminded of
this by condition/informative.

7.8

Drainage and flooding – Acceptable

7.8.1

The application site does not lie within an Environment Agency Flood Zone 2 or 3
(areas of highest risk). Although the proposal would provide some additional hard
surfacing, reducing existing infiltration in that area, it would provide additional
trees/landscaping which would assist in reducing run-off. It would also provide a
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS). There is no objection from the Council’s
Drainage Engineer subject to the recommended drainage condition.

8. CONCLUSION
8.1

Having had regard to the above it is considered that the proposal would represent an
acceptable form of development that would support outdoor sport and recreation and
would not result in an adverse impact on the Urban Open Space. The development
would not result in the loss of playing pitches and no objections have been raised by
Sport England.

8.2

Given the nature and scale of the development, it is not considered that an
unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the recreation ground or
wider area would result.

8.3

Subject to the recommended conditions, it is not considered that the development
would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring
residential properties. No adverse highway impacts are anticipated and no technical
objections have been raised regarding the drainage impacts of the scheme. Subject

Page 77

to conditions, no adverse impacts are anticipated with regard to biodiversity or the
SINC within the recreation ground.
Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all
correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, excluding
exempt information.
RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION
SUMMARY OF CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES
Standard Conditions
1. Time limit of 3 years
2. Approved numbered drawings and documents
Pre-commencement
3. Existing ground levels and proposed slab levels
4.Tree Protection
5. Construction Logistics and Environmental Management Plan (PC17)
6. Secure by Design details and accreditation
7. Scheme for Surface Water Drainage (PC06)
8. Measures to Accommodate Construction Vehicles (PC16)
9. Business/Operational Management Plan
Pre-occupation
n/a
Above Ground Works
10. External materials including track surfacing to Sport England
11. Landscaping (hard and soft)
12. Boundary Treatments
13. Cycle parking details (AG12)
14. Signage details
15. Refuse/Recycling bin details
16. Biodiversity enhancements and precautionary approach to site clearance
Compliance
17. Wheel wash down facility
18. No external lighting
19. Hours of use
Informatives
1.
2.
3.
4.

Environmental Health compliance with the Control of Pollution and Noise from
Demolition and Construction Sites Code of Practice 2008
Environmental Health contact if any suspected contamination
Guidance on preparing Community Use Agreements is available from Sport England.
http://www.sportengland.org/planningapplications/
Natural England precautionary approach to site clearance/removal

Page 78

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.
13 July 2021

1:1250

Page 79

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 4.3
Committee Date

22.07.2021
10 Silverdale Road
Petts Wood
Orpington
BR5 1NJ

Address

Application
Number
Ward
Proposal

20/04071/FULL6

Officer - Nicholas Trower/Victoria
Wood

Petts Wood And Knoll
Demolition of existing garage and construction of a single storey
side/rear extension and part front garage extension with new pitched
roof to form front porch canopy. Alterations to existing patio with new
access steps and retaining wall
Agent

Applicant
Mr & Mrs Scutts
10 Silverdale Road
Petts Wood
Orpington
BR5 1NJ

Mr Jon Bale
3 Rice Parade
Fairway
Petts Wood
BR5 1EQ

Reason for referral to
committee

Councillor call in
Call-In

RECOMMENDATION

Yes

Application Permitted

KEY DESIGNATIONS

Area of Special Residential Character
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area
London City Airport Safeguarding
Smoke Control SCA 4

Land use Details
Use Class or Use
description

Floor space (GIA SQM)

Page 81

Existing

C3

114.74 (including garage)

Proposed

C3 (no change proposed)

146.51 (including garage)

Vehicle parking

Existing number
of spaces

Total proposed
including spaces
retained

Difference in spaces
(+ or -)

Standard car spaces

2 (including
garage

1

Disabled car spaces

0

0

-1 (existing off-street
parking space to be
retained)
0

Cycle

0

0

0

Electric car charging points

Representation
summary

0

Neighbour letters issued - 12.11.2020

Total number of responses
Number in support
Number of objections

1
0
0 (one general comment received)

UPDATE
This application was presented to Plans Sub Committee 4 on 21 st January 2021 where
Members resolved to defer the application without prejudice to seek a reduction in the
forward projection of the front garage extension to be in line with the existing front building
line. The applicant has been approached and has confirmed that they do not wish to change
their proposal and would like Members to determine this proposal in its current form. The
original report is repeated below and updated where necessary.
1. SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
-

Proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on design of host
building and would not overdevelop the site;
Proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on the spatial
standards or visual amenity of the Area of Special Residential Character;
No unacceptable impact would arise to neighbouring occupiers;
No unacceptable highways impacts would arise; and
No detrimental impact on trees to rear of site.

Page 82

2. LOCATION
2.1

The application site comprises a two storey semi-detached dwellinghouse located on
the south-eastern side of Silverdale Road, Petts Wood. The property, which is not
listed, is subject to two Article 4 Directions and lies within the Petts Wood Area of
Special Residential Character (ASRC). There is a group Tree Preservation Order
(TPO) on trees at the rear of the site.

2.2

Site Location Plan:

3. PROPOSAL
3.1

The application seeks planning permission for a single storey front, side and rear
extension, front porch canopy and alterations to patio with new access steps and
retaining wall.

3.2

The proposed front extension will measure approximately 1.0m in depth and 2.4m in
width. It is proposed for the front extension to have a pitched roof which will measure
approximately 3.5m in height. This pitched roof will extend to sit above the front
entrance forming an open porch canopy.

3.3

The side extension will measure approximately 2.3m in width for a depth of 5.2m. The
extension will then narrow towards the rear to a width of approximately 1.3m for a
further depth of 3.1m before wrapping around the host dwelling and projecting to the
rear. This element of the proposed will have a part flat/part pitched roof. The flat roof

Page 83

will measure approximately 2.8m in height and the pitched roof will have a maximum
height of 3.4m.
3.4

The rear extension will measure approximately 4.5m in depth, 7.7m in width and 3.4m
in height at its maximum.

3.5

Proposed plans and elevations:
Proposed floor and block plans:

Page 84

Proposed elevations:

Photograph of existing front elevation:

Page 85

Photographs of Nos. 5 and 7 opposite application site:

Photographs of Nos. 7 and 9 opposite application site:
(No. 9 has a similar extension permitted under ref: 18/05006/FULL6)

Page 86

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1

The relevant planning history relating to the application site is summarised as follows:

4.2

01/01872/FULL1 - Single storey side and rear extensions; side dormer extension –
Application Permitted.

4.3

05/00299/FULL6 - Single storey side and rear extension and rear dormer extension,
plus alterations to roof for loft conversion – Application Permitted

5. CONSULTATION SUMMARY
A) Statutory
Highways: The development will result in the loss of one parking space by demolition of the
existing garage and construction of a single storey side extension. This will leave just 1
space within the site’s curtilage. Please ask the applicant to create an additional space for
the second car in the front garden and submit it for highway planning approval.
-

Please note that internal observations, when not statutory, will only be addressed in
the body of the report to avoid repetition.

B) Adjoining Occupiers
General Comments Received (paras 7.2.4 – 7.2.6):
-

I would object to side windows being fitted with clear glass.
In view of the ground level being higher than No.8 and the closer proximity to my
boundary fence I would expect windows to be fitted with frosted glass.
I do not want my boundary fence to be taken down.
Adequate drainage should be provided to the rear of the existing garage which may
be subject to flooding.

Please note that the above is a summary of representations received and that the full text
can be found on the Council’s website.
6. POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
6.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out that
in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local
planning authority must have regard to:

(a)
(b)
(c)

the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application,
any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
any other material considerations.

6.2

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear
that any determination under the planning acts must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 87

6.3

The National Planning Policy Framework was published on 24 July 2018 and updated
on 19 February 2019.

6.4

The development plan for Bromley comprises the Bromley Local Plan (Jan 2019) and
the London Plan (March 2021). The NPPF does not change the legal status of the
development plan.

6.5

The application falls to be determined in accordance with the following policies:

6.6

National Policy Framework 2019

6.7

The London Plan
D4 - Delivering Good Design
T6 - Car Parking
T6.1 - Residential Parking

6.8 Bromley Local Plan 2019
6 - Residential Extensions
30 - Parking
32 - Road Safety
37 - General Design of Development
44 - Areas of Special Residential Character
73 - Development and Trees
6.9 Bromley Supplementary Guidance




Supplementary Planning Guidance 1 - General Design Principles
Supplementary Planning Guidance 2 - Residential Design Guidance
Article 4 Directions - Petts Wood ASRC

7. ASSESSMENT
7.1

Design – Acceptable

7.1.1 Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should
contribute positively to making places better for people.
7.1.2 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF (2019) states that the creation of high quality buildings
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to
communities.
7.1.3 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure that
developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for
the short term but over the lifetime of the development; are visually attractive as a

Page 88

result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping and are
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate
innovation or change (such as increased densities). New development shall also
establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive
places to live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and
sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and create places
that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with
a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.
7.1.4 London Plan and Bromley Local Plan policies further reinforce the principles of the
NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality design.
7.1.5 The host dwelling falls within the Petts Wood ASRC. The original plans for Petts
Wood date from the late 1920s and early 1930s. While the houses were built over a
number of years, in a number of similar though varied styles, the road layout and plot
sizes were established in an overall pattern. Today the layout remains largely intact.
7.1.6 The Petts Wood ASRC entry within the Bromley Local Plan sets out that the regularity
of front building and rear building lines, the consistency in the front roof lines largely
untouched by roof extensions or conversions and the symmetry between pairs and
neighbouring pairs of houses are of importance in defining the character of the area.
7.1.7 The ASRC has an open, suburban and semi-rural feel, predicated by low boundaries
and visible front gardens set back from the road as well as the width of the separation
between the houses which is of a particularly high standard. This allows many of the
trees and greenery which prevail throughout the area to be seen from the street.
Large rear gardens also provide the area with a high level of amenity. The plot sizes,
the alignment of the houses to the Garden Suburb principle underline the character,
rhythm, symmetry and spatial standards of the ASRC.
7.1.8 The single storey front extension will project approximately 0.7m forward of the host
dwellings main front elevation. The extension will retain a separation distance of 7.9m
from the public highway which will ensure a suitable front garden area is retained.
The extension would have a pitched roof which is also proposed to sit above the front
entrance forming an open porch. The depth and height of the front extension would
be subservient to the main dwelling and would not result in an overdevelopment of
the site. Insofar as possible the proposed materials will match those of the host
property which would be complementary and compatible with the application site and
developments in the surrounding area.
7.1.9 It is noted that a large number of properties within Silverdale Road have extended
forward of the front building line through the addition of garage or front porch
extensions. There are also several examples within the immediate area of properties
which have carried out similar types of development to the proposed, such as Nos.5,
6, 7 and 11. It is recognised that a number of these extensions took place prior to the

Page 89

adoption of the ASRC however their existence is considered to form part of the
character of Silverdale Road. Taking into account the existence of these extensions,
and the separation distance that would be retained from the front boundary of the
site, it is not considered that the development would have a detrimental impact on
the pattern of development or spatial standards of the area or be at odds with the
objectives of the ASRC. It is also recognised that the adjoining dwelling, No.12, has
not been extended to the front or side other than through the addition of an open
porch. Taking into account the height, width and design of the proposed front
extension it is not considered that the development would lead to an unbalancing of
the semi-detached pair. It is therefore considered that this element of the proposed
will not harm the character of the ASRC or the streetscene in general.
7.1.10 The size, scale and bulk of the side and rear extensions would not significantly alter
the appearance of the host dwelling and would ensure a suitable level of amenity
space is retained at the rear of the site. The proposed height and depth of the
extensions would be subservient to the main dwelling and would not result in an
overdevelopment of the site as a whole. Insofar as possible the proposed materials
will match those of the application property which would be complementary and
compatible with the application site and developments in the surrounding ASRC. The
extensions would not be widely visible from the street and, taking into account the
proposed design and materials, it is not considered that this element of the proposed
would be harmful to the character of the ASRC or the streetscene in general.
7.1.11 It is proposed to enlarge the rear patio area by approximately 3.9m providing a
retaining wall with a height of 1.1m and new access steps to the garden. The retaining
wall will sit at a similar height to the existing wall and it is not considered that the
enlargement of the patio area would have a detrimental impact on the appearance of
the host dwelling or wider ASRC.
7.1.12 Having regard to the form, scale, siting and proposed materials it is considered that
proposed development would complement the host property and would not result in
a detrimental impact upon the spatial standards and visual amenity of the ASRC.
7.2

Neighbouring Amenity – Acceptable

7.2.1 Policy 37 of the Bromley Local Plan seeks to protect existing residential occupiers
from inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development
proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light,
overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and disturbance.
7.2.2 The ground floor rear extension will project along the boundary with No.12, which sits
to the north of the host dwelling. It is noted that this neighbouring property currently
benefits from a conservatory which measures approximately 2.3m in depth. The
proposed development will extend a further 2.2m in depth past the rear wall of No.12
and will sit approximately 0.3m from the boundary. While this element of the proposed
would have some impact on the light and outlook of No.12 it is not considered that
this would be adverse enough to warrant a refusal of the application when the existing
arrangement of the properties is taken into account along with the height and depth
of the development.

Page 90

7.2.3 The front, side and rear extensions will project along the boundary with No.8 for a
depth of approximately 6.2m before stepping in 1.0m and projecting a further 7.6m
in depth. No.8 sits approximately 2.3m from the boundary with the host dwelling and
currently benefits from a single storey rear extension which measures approximately
5.6m in depth. No.8 also benefits from a detached garage which, along with the rear
extension, will work to mitigate the impact of the proposed development. Taking into
account the arrangement of the two properties, along with the orientation of the site
and height and depth of the proposed, it is not considered that the development would
result in and adverse impact on neighbouring amenities in terms of overshadowing,
loss of light or overbearing impact.
7.2.4 The proposed windows to the front and rear, because of their location and size, would
not result in an increased chance of overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring
residents over and above that which currently exists. Two windows are proposed to
the side elevation of the extension and are indicated as serving the utility room and
kitchen. The host dwelling currently benefits from a window and door to its ground
floor flank elevation. The development will result in the side windows sitting closer to
the boundary with No.8 and at a slightly higher level than the existing window. In
order to protect the privacy of neighbouring occupiers a condition can be included
with any permission requiring these windows to be obscurely glazed.
7.2.5 Having regard to the scale, siting and separation distance of the development, it is
considered that a significant loss of amenity with particular regard to light, outlook,
privacy and prospect would not arise.
7.2.6 Representations have been received raising concerns about the boundary fence
being removed during construction. These concerns, while important, fall outside of
the decision making process for this application and may be dealt with as a civil
matter.
7.3

Highways - Acceptable

7.3.1 The NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability
and health objectives. The NPPF clearly states that development should only be
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of
development are severe.
7.3.2 London Plan and Bromley Local Plan Policies encourage sustainable transport
modes whilst recognising the need for appropriate parking provision. Car parking
standards within the London Plan and Bromley Local Plan should be used as a basis
for assessment.
7.3.3 The proposed development involves the loss of the existing detached garage. The
replacement garage will have a reduced depth of 0.8m when compared with what is
existing due to the positioning of the proposed steps. One off street parking space
will be provided within the curtilage of the site. The Council’s Highways Officer has
requested that an additional space is provided in the front garden. There is sufficient
space available within the front garden that can be utilised for vehicle parking if
required by the applicant in the future. It is therefore not considered necessary to

Page 91

require the applicant to provide an additional parking space in this instance. Based
on the information submitted it is not considered that the development would be have
an adverse impact on parking.
7.4

Development and Trees - Acceptable

7.4.1 Policy 73 of the Bromley Local Plan states that proposals for new development will
be required to take particular account of existing trees on the site and on adjoining
land, which in the interests of visual amenity and/or wildlife habitat, are considered
desirable to be retained. Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) will be used to protect trees
of environmental importance and visual amenity. Further to this the supporting text
to the policy states that trees are important features of the Borough's environment
and are a valuable resource for wildlife. The Council places a high priority on their
retention and protection.
7.4.2 Trees positioned to the rear of the application site are subject to a TPO. The proposed
development would provide a separation distance of approximately 11.5m from the
closest tree. The applicants have submitted a tree survey, arboricultural impact
assessment and arboricultural method statement. The Council’s Tree Officer has
raised no objection to the proposed development subject to the inclusion of a
condition requiring the installation of tree protection measures in accordance with the
submitted tree protection plan.
8. CONCLUSION
8.1

Having had regard to the above it is considered that the development in the manner
proposed is acceptable in that it would not result in a significant loss of amenity to
local residents nor impact detrimentally on the character of the Area of Special
Residential Character.

8.2

Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all
correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, excluding
exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION
Subject to the following conditions:
1. Standard time limit of 3 years
2. Standard compliance with approved plans
3. Materials to match those of host dwelling
4. Tree protection measures
5. Provision of obscure glazing to ground floor side windows
Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Assistant Director of
Planning.

Page 92

20/04071/FULL6-10 Silverdale Road
© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.
13 July 2021

1:1250

Page 93

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 4.4
Committee
Date

22nd July 2021

Address

Sundridge Park Golf Club, Garden Road, Bromley, BR1 3NE

Application
Number
Ward
Proposal

21/01089/TPO

Officer Chris Ryder

Plaistow & Sundridge
Fell and treat (deciduous) x3 Oak trees (T3, T4 and T5) at Sundridge
Park Golf Club
SUBJECT TO TPO 690 (26.10.1990)

Applicant
Mr C Thomas
PRI Insurance
2 The Courtyards
Phoenix Square
Severalls Park
Colchester
CO4 9PE
Reason for referral to
committee

Agent

Subsidence related financial
risk

RECOMMENDATION

Councillor call in

Refusal

KEY DESIGNATIONS
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 690.

Representation
summary

Total number of responses
Number in support
Number of objections

0
0
0

Page 95

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION


Members must decide whether to consent or refuse the proposed tree removal,
based on the evidence submitted and the officer’s assessment.

PROPOSAL
1. This application has been made in respect of oak trees (T3-T5) located in the
grounds of Sundridge Park Golf Course, in connection with a subsidence
investigation at 105 New Street Hill, Bromley, BR1 5BA. The felling of the trees is
proposed to achieve building stabilisation in accordance with the professional
recommendations.

Figure 1 - Oak (T3-T5)

LOCATION
2. The application site consists of a golf course located to the north of Bromley,
bordering New Street Hill to the West. The insured property subject of this
subsidence claim comprises a detached two storey dwelling that dates back to the
1930s. The property is located on a rising slope from the road. The front has been
landscaped to incorporate a drive way and associated hard surfacing. There are
no significant trees within the property and no restrictions in terms of protected
trees.

Page 96

Figure 2 - Site Location
3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

In 2016 an application was received to fell 3 oak trees under reference
16/00917/TPO.

3.2

Application 17/01781/IN6 was received by Building Control for stabilisation of the
front bay window.

3.3

Application 19/01026/TPO was a repeat application to fell 3 oak trees. This
resulted in refusal at committee on 25th April 2019. The following reasons were
listed:
1.

The monitoring period is not of a sufficient timeframe to conclude
foundation movement is seasonal. Crack monitoring for one year will
provide more data to show movement is of a cyclical nature. For this
reason the proposals conflict with Policies 43 and 73 of the Bromley
Local Plan (adopted January 2019) and Policy 7.21 of The London Plan
(adopted March 2016).

2.

The application has failed to acknowledge alternative solutions to
prevent continued subsidence. For this reason the proposals conflict
with Policies 43 and 73 of the Bromley Local Plan (adopted January
2019) and Policy 7.21 of The London Plan (adopted March 2016).

3.

The most mature tree (T) is estimated to have existed prior to the
construction of the dwelling. More corroborative evidence would be
required to prove the dwelling existed before the trees. The adequacy
of the foundations has not been defended. For this reason the
proposals conflict with Policies 43 and 73 of the Bromley Local Plan
(adopted January 2019) and Policy 7.21 of The London Plan (adopted
March 2016).

Page 97

4

CONSULTATION SUMMARY

4.1

Two site notices were displayed and no representations were received.

4.2

Building Control are not insured to provide consultation feedback on tree related
subsidence cases. Should professional advice be required, an external Structural
Engineer will need to be employed.

5
5.1

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
National Policy Framework 2019
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5.2

The London Plan
G1 Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment
G7 Trees and Woodlands

5.3

Bromley Local Plan 2019
42 Conservation Areas
73 Development and Trees
74 Conservation and Management of Trees and Woodlands

5.4

The London Borough of Bromley Tree Management Strategy 2016-2020
Section 18

5.5

National Planning Guidance - Tree Preservation Orders and trees in
conservation areas (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government)
Paragraph 020 – 057

6
6.1

CONSIDERATIONS
The subject oak trees have been identified as a contributing factor to subsidence
damage noted along the front bay window and the front porch. The evidence
supplied in support of the application comprising of an arboricultural assessment
and an engineering appraisal report indicate that the removal of three numbered
oak trees is required to mitigate further damage and to enable repairs to be
completed.
The tree survey appended to the arboricultural assessment can be referred to for
specifications of each tree.
Damage is confirmed to be within the slight category as referred to in the Building
Research Establishment (BRE) digest document 251. This is described as follows:
“Cracks easily filled. Recurrent cracks can be masked by suitable linings. Cracks
not necessarily visible externally; some external repointing may be required to
ensure weather-tightness. Doors and windows may stick slightly and require
easing and adjusting. Typical crack widths up to 5mm.”

Page 98

6.2

The subject oak trees are approximately 20m from the front of the dwelling. Highly
visible in the street scene, the trees are considered to be of high amenity value,
cohesive with other trees in the wooded belt. The trees are also considered to be of
ecological importance. One of the trees appears to have been felled by the golf
course on safety grounds.

6.3

The subject trees are confirmed to be within the zone of influence. The trees have
been measured between 20.8m from the front projection of the policy holder’s
dwelling. Tree survey data has been submitted as part of the application supporting
documents and reference tree dimensions. The trees appear to be of normal vitality
with no recent management evident. The trees are estimated older than the
surrounding dwellings.

Figure 3 – Aerial photo (1940)
6.4

The following supporting documents have been appended to the application:







6.5

Engineer Appraisal Report (03.12.20)
Statement of reasons for works
Site investigation report (12.01.21)
Soil Analysis (08.02.21)
Level Monitoring (08.02.21)
Arboricultural Report (06.01.21)
Two boreholes (TP1/TP2) were excavated as part of the investigation. This revealed
foundations to depths of 800mm in TP1 adjacent to the front porch and 600mm in
TP2 adjacent to the garage/main dwelling. Root identification in the borehole
reveals oak roots are beneath the foundations of the dwelling. Helical piling was
installed circa 2017 and this has failed to achieve stabilisation.

Page 99

Figure 4 - Site Plan
6.6

Level monitoring results taken from 17 visits indicate movement associated with
seasonal soil moisture loss. Movement is most severe at monitoring stations 2-6
positioned along the rear elevation of the conservatory.

6.7

Soil analysis has proven that the plasticity index is borderline medium - high,
indicating an increased potential for volume change. Soil analysis indicates a
plasticity index of between 50-59%.

6.8

The Engineer has recommended the trees be felled to remove the influence on the
local soil conditions. The Arboricultural Consultant has agreed that tree felling is
required.

6.9

A defective drain has been identified.

6.10 The estimated cost of underpinning and repair is from £80,000 with tree retention
and £6000, should the influence of the tree be removed.

Page 100

7

CONCLUSION

7.1

The foundations are not considered deep enough to withstand the influence of the
subject tree within the zone of influence. The required foundation depth has been
calculated to be a minimum of 1.74m based on the highest actual plasticity index
record.

7.2

The age of the property dates back to the 1930s and the trees can therefore be
confirmed to have been an existing feature or of a similar age to constructed
dwellings.

7.3

The reports submitted in support of the application have concluded that the subject
tree is influencing the dwelling and causing seasonal movement.

7.4

Level monitoring data supplied, indicates the building has sunk and then risen. The
reports submitted in support of the application have concluded that seasonal
movement is occurring.

7.5

Heave has been calculated as part of the soil analysis.

7.6

A monetary value has been applied to the oak tree adopting the CAVAT (Capital
Asset Value for Amenity Trees) system. CAVAT provides a method for managing
trees as public assets rather than liabilities. It is designed not only to be a strategic
tool and aid to decision-making in relation to the tree stock as a whole, but also to
be applicable to individual cases, where the value of a single tree needs to be
expressed in monetary terms. CAVAT is recognised in the English court system,
with various case examples available.

7.7

The CAVAT valuation system is available for use in development control/
management functions, including for trees subject to TPOs or in conservation areas.
Ultimately, the key task of the system is to show the cost of the subject tree removal
in the face of a particular scenario and demonstrate what level of mitigation would
be required to satisfactorily replace an asset. In some circumstances, a mature tree
could not be replaced by replanting initiatives.

7.8

The total value for the two remaining subject Oak trees is £73,181. At least two
other oak trees are estimated to be within the zone of influence. The implicated
trees in this proposal have only been valued for the purposes of this assessment.

7.9

The foundations of the porch are 0.75m deep and the foundations of the bay window
projection were noted to be 0.90m. The adequacy of these foundations has not been
commented on. The damage is only occurring on these projections and would
indicate that the foundations for the porch and bay window projection are shallower
than the dwelling. Foundation detail of the remaining dwelling is required for
analysis. This would require a third trail pit to be excavated.

7.10 The conclusion of the application 19/01026/TPO is still relevant in this decision; the
works proposed do not justify the harmful impact on local visual amenities.
Alternative repairs were invited and would still form an important consideration in
this case. A root barrier in this location would be effective.
7.11 A broad estimate of costs has been stated in the reasons for works. A breakdown
of costs would provide a clearer picture of the required repairs. The damage is
currently isolated to the porch and bay window. Both are considered weaker parts
of dwellings in most cases where foundation depth differs.

Page 101

8

Financial Implications

8.1

Members are informed that no budget has been allocated to the defence of a
compensation claim, should the application be refused. A claim may include and is
not restricted to any further damage from the date of the decision, costs incurred in
respect further repairs, costs incurred in further monitoring and legal costs.
Members are also reminded of the officer costs involved in defending against a
compensation claim.

8.2

Attention is drawn to section 202E of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This
allows the applicant to make a compensation claim in respect of a refused decision.

8.3

The Council must be prepared to defend against a compensation claim should the
application be refused. Based on the latest case example where a subsidence case
was refused and the Council had to defend a compensation claim, the costs of
repair in view of tree retention and legal costs were considerations. Where costs of
repair were estimated at £76000, the total costs of defending the case were circa
£90000. Members should therefore anticipate at least a 25% increase in costs. This
may relate to and is not limited to legal, investigation, expert costs and actual
repairs.

8.4

The Council are currently on notice for 6 subsidence cases where decision have
been refused. No further action has been taken at this stage, but Members must be
aware of the potential implications involved in a legal challenge.

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
Fell and treat (deciduous) x3 Oak trees (T3, T4 and T5) at Sundridge Park Golf Club.
Reason:
The application has failed to acknowledge the adequacy of the extension's
foundations and the construction design. The tree felling would be harmful to the
character of the area. The proposals would negate the objectives of the TPO and
therefore conflict with Policies 73, 74 of The Bromley Local Plan (adopted January
2019), Policy G7 of The London Plan (adopted March 2021).
INFORMATIVES
1.

You are advised that formal consent is not required for the removal of
deadwood, dangerous branches and ivy from protected trees.

2.

An appraisal of a root barrier should be included in any further submission.

3.

A costs breakdown must be included in any further submission.

Page 102

Planning

105 New Street Hill, Bromley, BR1
5BA

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.
Tuesday, April 09,
2019

1:1250

Page 103

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 4.5
Committee Date

22.07.2021

Address

7 Manor Place
Chislehurst
BR7 5QH

Application
Number

21/02147/FULL6

Ward

Chislehurst

Proposal

Demolition of conservatory. Part one/two storey front/side/rear
extensions, loft conversion incorporating rooflights and elevational
alterations.

Officer – Robin Evans

Applicant
Mr & Mrs D Spookes

Agent
MR David Sullivan

7 Manor Place
Chislehurst
BR7 5QH

Lantarna
The Pinnock
Pluckley
TN27 0SP

Reason for referral to
committee

Councillor call in
Yes

Call-In

RECOMMENDATION

Application Refused

KEY DESIGNATIONS

Conservation Area: Chislehurst
Biggin Hill Safeguarding Area
London City Airport Safeguarding
Smoke Control SCA 16
Representation
summary

Neighbour letters sent 20.5.21
Site notice displayed 24.5.21
Newspaper advert published 26.5.21
Total number of responses
4
Number in support
0
Number of objections
4
1.

SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION




The proposal would detract from the character and appearance of the site and
the Conservation Area.
The proposal would detract from the amenities of neighbouring residents.

2.

LOCATION

2.1

The application site is No. 7 Manor Place, Chislehurst, a detached two storey chalet
style dwelling located on the western side of the south western spur of the highway.

Page 105

The land is predominantly level with boundaries marked by a mixture of trees,
hedges and fencing. The original dwelling appeared to be a relatively modest chalet
style dwelling with front and rear dormer windows set at an angle to the highway
measuring approximately 113sqm. It has been extended with single storey
extensions on each side including a double garage and a rear conservatory in total
measuring approximately 105sqm now measuring approximately 218sqm. The
application site lies within a residential area characterised mainly detached
dwellings of various designs and styles generally set in spacious plots. Some
dwellings have been enlarged and others have been replaced including some
nearby to No. 7. The dwelling is not locally or statutorily listed and does not lie within
an Area of Special Residential Character however the site lies within the Chislehurst
Conservation Area Sub-unit 12 Manor Park, Prince Consort Drive and subsidiary
streets. It lies within the suburban area however it directly abuts the Metropolitan
Green Belt to the west.
2.2

Sub-unit 12. Manor Park, Prince Consort Drive and subsidiary streets
These streets, and those branching from them, are characterised by large
contemporary houses on spacious plots set amongst mature trees. Some earlier
buildings are retained amongst the later development (such as The Old House off
Manor Place, along with a lodge house and gates), providing important reminders
of the earlier forms of settlement. Given that these streets are not through routes
and are not visible from the key parts of the Conservation Area, the retention of its
wooded setting provides a supportive backdrop, which performs a useful subsidiary
role within the Conservation Area. The protection of mature trees and remnant early
buildings and their settings are encouraged, along with ongoing establishment of
trees, with preference for broad-leafed species, to enhance the wooded setting.

Fig 1. Site location plan.

Page 106

Photo 1. Manor Place looking towards Nos. 7 and 8 (left to
right).

Photo 2. Looking towards Nos. 5, 6 and 7 Manor Place (left to
right).

Page 107

Photo 3. Looking towards Nos. 7 and 8 Manor Place (left to
right).

Photo 4. North boundary with No. 8 (pictured to the right).

Page 108

Photo 5. Rear elevation looking towards No. 6.

Photo 6. Rear elevation.

Page 109

Photo 7. Rear elevation looking towards No. 8.

Aerial photo 1. Looking north west.
3.
3.1

PROPOSAL
Planning permission is sought for demolition of conservatory, erection of part single
storey/part two storey/part first floor side, rear and front extensions, re-pitched and
raised roof to form first floor and roof accommodation, integral garage and
elevational alterations measuring approximately 223sqm in total or 110sqm net
increase compared with the original dwelling.

Page 110

Fig 2. Existing ground floor plan.

Fig 3. Existing elevations.

Fig 4. Proposed ground floor plan (annotated).

Page 111

Fig 5. Proposed elevations.
4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1

The relevant planning history relating to the application site is summarised as
follows:

4.2

89/01521/FUL – Erection of single storey side extension was approved on 12
October 1989.

4.3

05/02190/FULL6 – Erection of single storey rear extension was approved on 27 July
2005.

4.4

12/00315/FULL6 – Erection of single storey front/side extension was approved on
26 April 2012.

4.5

20/03691/FULL6 – Demolition of conservatory. Erection of part single storey/part
two storey/part first floor side, rear and front extensions, re-pitched and raised roof
to form first floor and roof accommodation, integral garage and elevational
alterations was refused on 2 February 2021 for the following reason(s):
1.

The siting, scale and form of the proposed development would appear
excessive in size in relation to the existing dwelling, it would fail to respect or
maintain the high spatial standards of separation between buildings which
already exist in this spacious residential Conservation Area, resulting in a
cramped and overdeveloped appearance adversely impacting the character
and appearance of the host building. The proposal would detract from the
character and appearance of the local area including the defining
characteristics of this part of the Chislehurst Conservation Area as designated
heritage asset contrary to Policies 8, 37, 38, 41, 43 and 73 of the Bromley
Local Plan 2019 and the Chislehurst Conservation Area SPG 2001.

2.

The siting, proximity to the neighbouring properties, the size and scale of the
proposed extensions would be harmful to the outlook and visual amenities and
would cause harmful overshadowing to the neighbouring properties at Nos. 6
and 8 Manor Close contrary to Policies 6 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan
2019. [Topographical error – should read “Nos. 6 and 8 Manor Place”].

Page 112

4.6

Other relevant history

4.6.1

6 Manor Place
21/00720/FULL6 – Demolition of existing garages. Erection of two storey side/rear
extension, single storey rear and side extensions, replacement first floor level with
flat roof, and finished with render and oak cladding was granted on 2 July 2021.

5.

CONSULTATION SUMMARY

5.1

A) Statutory

5.1.1

Conservation Officer: According to historic maps the dwelling appears to date from
after 1945 and in itself has neutral significance in the Conservation Area and there
is no objection in principle to its extension/alteration. However, it is visually low key,
and the revised proposal would continue to overwhelm the modest and attractive
house and would increase its dominance in the plot and in the road and it would
therefore be inappropriate in the Conservation Area. The revised proposal would
continue to harm to the designated heritage asset according to the NPPF.

5.1.2

Highways: This part of the highway is a private road where the Council is not the
Highway Authority and does not have jurisdiction or responsibility. Nonetheless, as
a result of the development, there would appear to remain sufficient space for
parking within the site and/or in the proposed garage.

5.2

B) Local Groups

5.2.1

N/A

5.3

C) Neighbouring Occupants

5.3.1

Nearby owners/occupiers were notified of the application and representations were
received, which can be summarised as follows:

5.3.2

Objections

5.3.2.1 General


The revised proposal does not change the previous reasons for refusal on
grounds of siting, scale and form.

5.3.2.2 Design and Conservation Area




The application site lies within the Conservation Area; characterised by
spacious plots with generous space between dwellings,
The original dwellings are modest, defined by their location and the layout and
orientation of the estate and therefore appropriately sized to their surroundings
and with appropriate spacing between them,
The dwelling has already been extended reducing the space around the
building although it did not detract from the character and appearance (or
neighbouring amenity),

Page 113






The proposal would be excessive in size, overdeveloping the plot, dominating
the other dwellings, and out of keeping within the area,
The proximity (1m from the boundary) and size of the development would
reduce existing spacing and would appear cramped in between Nos. 7 and 8,
The proposal is piecemeal and does not integrate existing extensions,
The proposal would remove existing trees in order to access the garage,
harmful to the appearance of the area.

5.3.2.3 Neighbouring amenities





6.

Existing single storey extensions at No. 7 do not overshadow neighbouring
properties,
The proximity and size of the two storey extensions would overshadow
neighbouring properties (No. 8),
The two-storey side extensions would overlook neighbouring properties
adjacent and opposite (assuming removal of trees),
The raised roof and any future roof light windows would overlook neighbouring
properties.

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

6.1

National Policy Framework 2019

6.2

NPPG

6.3

The London Plan 2021
D4 Delivering good design
G7 Trees and woodlands
HC1 Heritage conservation and growth
T6 Car parking

6.5

Bromley Local Plan 2019
6 Residential Extensions
8 Side Space
30 Parking
37 General Design of Development
41 Conservation Areas
43 Trees in Conservation Areas
73 Development and Trees

6.6

Bromley Supplementary Guidance
SPG1 – General Design Principles
SPG2 – Residential Design Guidance
Chislehurst Conservation Area SPG 2001

7.
7.1

ASSESSMENT
The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are:

Procedural matters

Page 114







Resubmission
Design and landscaping
Heritage Impact
Neighbouring amenity
Highways

7.2

Procedural matters

7.2.1

Notwithstanding representations received the application drawings are drawn to
scale and can be measured, and the application details are adequate to determine
the application.

7.3

Resubmission

7.3.1

As mentioned above the current application follows the previously refused
application 20/03691/FULL6 and compares/differs in the following ways:

previously proposed first floor side (south elevation), two storey front, single
storey/two storey rear and roof extensions unchanged,

two storey side extension (north elevation) width and separation from northern
boundary at front elevation unchanged, although the mid/rear parts narrowed
in width providing a more staggered footprint along the northern boundary and
increased separation from No. 8.

7.3.2

On this basis the current proposal and material considerations are materially
different from the previous scheme(s) and will be assessed on its own merits.

7.4

Design and landscaping – Unacceptable

7.4.1

Design is a key consideration in the planning process. Good design is an important
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should
contribute positively to making places better for people. The NPPF states that it is
important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design
for all development, including individual buildings, public and private spaces and
wider area development schemes.

7.4.2

London Plan and BLP policies further reinforce the principles of the NPPF setting
out a clear rationale for high quality design.

7.4.3

Policies 6, 37 and 73 of the Bromley Local Plan (BLP) and the Council's
Supplementary design guidance seek to ensure that new development, including
residential extensions, are of a high quality design that respect the scale and form
of the host dwelling and are compatible with surrounding development including
trees and landscaping that contribute towards the character and appearance of the
area.

7.4.4

As mentioned, the original dwelling was a relatively modest chalet bungalow set
within a spacious plot and according to the planning history it has been extended to
each side and the rear, totalling approximately 218sqm. Although the extensions
are fairly substantial, they are single storey in height and maintain space to the sides

Page 115

at upper floor level thereby maintaining space between the dwellings on each side
and the spatial standards of the area. Many of the dwellings in Manor Place remain
the original chalet bungalows however others have been extended and some
replaced. Nonetheless, they also provide space to their boundaries and to
neighbouring properties.
7.4.5

Local Plan Policy 8 requires a 1m minimum Side Space at upper floor level in some
areas where higher standards of separation exist, such as in more spacious
Conservation Areas, proposals should provide more generous side space in order
to maintain those standards and respect the character in those areas.

7.4.6

The proposal would place a full height first floor over the existing chalet dwelling
and substantial first floor/two storey side extensions: totalling approximately
223sqm and thereby more than doubling the size of the existing dwelling. According
to the drawings the proposed side extension to the southern elevation would
measure approximately 1.8m from the boundary with No. 6 (no change from the
previous application 20/03691/FULL6). In the current revised design, the proposed
side extension to the northern side elevation would maintain the frontage width of
approximately 7.3m and therefore would continue to measure approximately 3.7m
from the northern side boundary with No. 8 at the front elevation. However, the side
wall would have an additional staggered section, it would measure between 3m and
1.9m in width thereby increasing the separation from the northern boundary to 2m
along its length, compared with 1m separation in the previous application
20/03691/FULL6. Notwithstanding this, as the frontage width would be unchanged
and the separation from the northern boundary at the front part of the extension
would be unchanged; measuring 3.7m this would continue to have a
narrowing/pinch point effect and a cramped appearance as it is positioned at the
front most part of the site. Although the extension would be narrower in width, the
narrowed width would be along the side elevation and the resulting increased
spacing from the boundary would be would be concealed/obscured by the front part
of the extension and the contribution that it makes would be less noticeable and
less apparent in the street scene than if the reduced width and increase separation
were to occur at the more prominent front part of the extension were it would be
more visible and more effective.

7.4.7

Notwithstanding the revision the size and scale of the proposed extensions
combined with the angled orientation of the plot would continue to cause the building
to appear to span the width of the plot, and the proposed extensions would together
diminish the space around the dwelling and would appear to enclose the existing
spaces between the neighbouring dwellings, thereby leading to a cramped and
overbearing appearance in this part of the street and the Conservation Area.
Overall, the proposal would appear excessive in size in relation to the existing
dwelling and would dominate the plot. It would also have the effect of overpowering
the more diminutive size and scale of the chalet style dwelling at No. 6.

7.4.8

The architectural design itself would be more modern/contemporary than the
existing traditional chalet dwelling however there is a range of styles and designs in
the area; including a replacement dwelling Huf Haus at No. 10, and as such this
would not be unacceptable in principle. The design and materials could be managed
by planning condition in the event that planning permission is granted.

Page 116

7.4.9

The proposal would not appear to directly result in the removal of or encroachment
towards significant or prominent trees or other vegetation important to the character
and appearance of the area and Conservation Area. Nonetheless, important trees;
particularly those in the frontage, could be protected during the construction process
by condition in the event that planning permission is granted.

7.5

Heritage Assets – Unacceptable

7.5.1

The NPPF sets out in section 16 the tests for considering the impact of a
development proposal upon designated and non-designated heritage assets. The
test is whether the proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total
loss of significance of a designated heritage asset and whether it can be
demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial
public benefits. A range of criteria apply.

7.5.2

Paragraph 196/197 state where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use. The effect of an application on the significance of
a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale
of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

7.5.3

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
places a requirement on a local planning authority in relation to development in a
Conservation Area, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

7.5.4

Interpretation of the 1990 Act in law has concluded that preserving the character of
the Conservation Area can not only be accomplished through positive contribution
but also through development that leaves the character or appearance of the area
unharmed.

7.5.5

As mentioned above the siting, size and scale of the proposal would appear to
occupy the width of the plot and reducing the space, having a cramped and
overdeveloped appearance. It would be harmful to the character and appearance
of the site and its setting within the street scene and detracting from the spacious
and sylvan character in this part of the Chislehurst Conservation Area Sub-unit 12
and the Council’s Conservation Officer and the Advisory Panel for Conservation
Areas (APCA) objects on this basis.

7.6

Neighbouring amenity – Unacceptable

7.6.1

Policy 37 of the BLP seeks to protect existing residential occupiers from
inappropriate development. Issues to consider are the impact of a development
proposal upon neighbouring properties by way of overshadowing, loss of light,
overbearing impact, overlooking, loss of privacy and general noise and disturbance.

Page 117

7.6.2

According to site observations the neighbouring dwelling at No. 6 is currently a
chalet style dwelling similar to No. 7, although it is noted the approved scheme
21/00720/FULL6 would alter its appearance. It is, and would continue to be,
positioned at a right angle to No. 7, although No. 7 does not currently project directly
in front of No. 6 and in any event, it is mostly single storey. As mentioned, the
proposal would place a full height first floor on the existing building and replace the
existing single storey side elements with more substantial two storey side
extensions. This would not be changed in the current revised design from the
previously proposed scheme 20/03691/FULL6. Although the dwelling may not be
positioned directly in front of No. 6 given the close proximity of approximately 2.5m
at the closest point, the orientation and general relationship, the size and scale of
these additions would detract to a certain degree from the outlook of No. 6 and
potentially have some harmful overshadowing, and some weight is attributed to this.
No. 8 is positioned more alongside No. 7 however it is angled and set slightly
forward of No. 7. As such the main bulk of the proposed development would be
positioned at the side of No. 8 however the proposed two storey side and rear
elements would project closer to No. 8 and the rear element in particular would
project more significantly beyond the rear of No. 8. The effects of the northern side
extension on No. 8 would be reduced somewhat by the increased separation in the
revised scheme, although not significantly so. Taking into account the proximity of
the resulting dwellings, their orientation and set back, the proposed additions would
have some additional harmful effect on the outlook of No. 8 and given the orientation
and sun path would lead to some additionally harmful overshadowing. Although the
development may be visible from other neighbouring properties it would be
sufficiently well removed from them that it would not have a significantly more
harmful impact on their outlook or direct daylight than the existing situation.

7.6.3

The main outlook of the development would continue to be to the front and rear
where, notwithstanding a greater number of windows in those elevations, any
additional overlooking would not be significantly more harmful than the existing
arrangement which is not unusual in a residential area in any event. The additional
upper floor side flank windows would either serve non-habitable rooms or they
would be secondary windows to habitable rooms and they could be fitted with
obscure glazing and restricted opening casements in the interest of preserving
neighbouring privacy without harming the living environment of the occupants within
the new development.

7.6.4

Having regard to the scale, siting, separation distance, orientation, of the
development; combined with existing boundary treatment, the proposed
development would result in a harmful loss of neighbouring residential amenity with
particular regard to light and outlook.

7.7

Highways – Acceptable

7.7.1

The NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability
and health objectives. The NPPF clearly states that transport issues should be
considered from the earliest stage of both plan making and when formulating
development proposals and development should only be prevented or refused on

Page 118

transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe.
7.7.2

The NPPF states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of
movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should
be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely
impacts of the proposal can be assessed.

7.7.3

London Plan and BLP Policies encourage sustainable transport modes whilst
recognising the need for appropriate parking provision. Car parking standards within
the London Plan and BLP should be used as a basis for assessment.

7.7.4

Although the proposal would remove the existing double garage it would continue
to provide a single garage of reasonable dimensions and forecourt space for on-site
parking. Furthermore, the Council is not the highway authority in this private road in
any event and there is no objection from the Council’s Highway Department.

7.8

CIL

7.8.1

The Mayor of London's CIL is a material consideration. CIL is payable on this
application.

8.

CONCLUSION

8.1

Having had regard to the above the proposal would comprise an overdevelopment
of the site; would lead to a cramped appearance failing to respect the high spatial
standards of the area, to the spacious and sylvan character and appearance of the
Conservation Area and heritage assets, and would detract from the outlook and
sunlight/daylight of the adjoining neighbouring properties. The current revised
proposal has not overcome the reasons for the refusal of the previous scheme
20/03691/FULL6 and is recommended for refusal.

8.2

Background papers referred to during production of this report comprise all
correspondence on the files set out in the Planning History section above, excluding
exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION: APPLICATION REFUSED
The reasons for refusal are:
1.

The siting, scale and form of the proposed development would appear excessive in
size in relation to the existing dwelling, it would fail to respect or maintain the high
spatial standards of separation between buildings which already exist in this spacious
residential Conservation Area, resulting in a cramped and overdeveloped appearance
adversely impacting the character and appearance of the host building. The proposal
would detract from the character and appearance of the local area including the
defining characteristics of this part of the Chislehurst Conservation Area as designated
heritage asset contrary to Policies 8, 37, 38, 41, 43 and 73 of the Bromley Local Plan
2019 and the Chislehurst Conservation Area SPG 2001.

Page 119

2.

The siting, proximity to the neighbouring properties, the size and scale of the proposed
extensions would be harmful to the outlook and visual amenities and would cause
harmful overshadowing to the neighbouring properties at Nos. 6 and 8 Manor Place
contrary to Policies 6 and 37 of the Bromley Local Plan 2019.

Page 120

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.
13 July 2021

1:1250

21/02147/FULL6-7 Manor Place
Chislehurst
BR7 5QH

Page 121

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 5.1
HPR2021/040

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

Plans Sub-Committee No.4

Date:

22nd July 2021

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

DIRECT ACTION TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH TREE
REPLACEMENT NOTICE AT LAND ADJACENT TO 47 SUNNINGVALE
AVENUE, BIGGIN HILL

Contact Officer:

John Stephenson, Head of Planning and Development Support Team
Tel: 0208 461 7887 E-mail: John.Stephenson@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning)

Ward:

Biggin Hill

1.

Non-Executive

Non-Key

Reason for report
Members must authorise the Council to take direct action to achieve compliance of a Tree
Replacement Notice (TRN) served on the landowner of the subject address. A copy of the TRN
is appended.
The costs range for such works are quoted between £17,424 and £48,780. Members must
authorise sufficient budget allocation to address the breach of the TRN. A land charge may be
place on the land to ensure the costs are recovered upon a future sale.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
At the time of writing, the TRN has not been complied with. Members must direct as to whether
enforcement action should be pursued, this would entail the Council engaging with private
contractors to enter the land and plant the above described trees within the area denoted in the
TRN. Recovery of the costs of such action would then be sought from the land owner.

1

Page 123

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Enforcement Policy/Bromley Local Plan (adopted January 2019)

2. BBB Priority: Quality Environment
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Recoverable via land charge

2.

Ongoing costs: Non-Recurring Cost

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Planning – Tree Team

4.

Total current budget for this head: £135040.

5.
Source of funding: Existing budget
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 3

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: 111pw
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance

2.
Call-in: Not Applicable:
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications:
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.
Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Local residents
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

2

Page 124

3.

COMMENTARY
3.1 The application site comprises a parcel of land located on the east side of Sunningvale
Avenue, north of Sunningvale Close. The site is covered by Tree Preservation Order (TPO)
1517, covering trees that existed in 1998.
3.2 On or around 22nd May 2019, 15 trees protected by the above TPO were removed or
destroyed without the consent of the London Borough of Bromley in contravention of TPO
217A. Under section 206 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act) the owner of
the land is under a duty to plant replacement trees.
3.3 A letter was sent to the land owner on 21st January 2020 setting out the specification of
replanting required to meet the duty of replacement set down under section 206 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.
3.4 A Tree Replacement Notice (TRN) was served requiring the replanting to be carried out by
November 2020. A copy of the TRN is appended to this report. Details of the required
specification are set out within section 4 of the TRN.
3.5 The TRN is yet to be complied with.
3.6 The Council must now act on the powers of entry under section 214B of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 to plant trees required and supervise an aftercare package of a
three year period.

Non-Applicable Sections:

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Impact on vulnerable adults and children, Policy
implications, financial implications, personnel implications,
legal implications, procurement implications
Tree Replacement Notice (TRN) 3rd September 2020

3

Page 125

This page is left intentionally blank

Page 127

Page 128

Page 129

Page 130

Page 131

Page 132

Agenda Item 6.1

Committee
Date

PSC4 22/7/21

Address

327 CROFTON ROAD, ORPINGTON BR6 8NR

TPO No.
Ward
Proposal

2696
Bickley

Officer Paul Smith

Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2696

Reason for referral to
committee

Councillor call in
Objections received

RECOMMENDATION

No

Confirmation without modification

KEY DESIGNATIONS
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2695

Representation
summary

Objection from property owner.

Total number of responses
Number in support
Number of objections

1
0
1

Page 133

1

SUMMARY OF REPORT




2

To consider 1 objection received against the making of Tree Preservation
Order (TPO) 2696.
The Oak tree makes an important contribution to the amenity of the
surrounding local area being a tree of considerable age and size, is strikingly
prominent in the street scene and is considered a very high value individual.
Members must determine whether to confirm the TPO or allow it to lapse.

LOCATION

2.1

The site is located on the junction of Crofton Road with Starts Hill Road.

2.2

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2696 was made on 29th January 2021 to secure
protection of the Oak tree on the front boundary of 327 Crofton Road.

Figure 1 – 327 Crofton Road

Page 134

Figure 2 - View from Crofton Road.

Figure 3 – View from Starts Hill Road

Page 135

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

APPLICATION FOR PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF PROPOSED DEMOLITION
Demolition of the existing building at 327 - 331 and subsequent restoration of the
land under Part 11, Class B, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended)
327 Crofton Road Orpington BR6 8NR
Ref. No: 20/02060/DEMCON | Received: Mon 15 Jun 2020 | Validated: Mon 15 Jun 2020 |
Status: Decided

4

CONSULTATION SUMMARY

4.1

The land owner/occupier was served the TPO by recorded delivery. Immediate
neighbours were notified in writing of the TPO service.

4.2

One objection was received and is summarised as follows:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

5
5.1

The owner has no intention of damaging or destroying the tree.
The owner planned to carry out some pruning work to the tree this year.
The owner has responsibility to protect the public from the tree.
The owner now requires the advice of Local Authority officer before carrying out
necessary works.
Vandalism of nearby Council trees indicates that the owner needs to protect
their own tree from vandalism by pruning.
Similar trees have been removed from nearby Farnborough Park.
The owner is distressed and feels targeted by the Local Authority.
The tree does not have the ‘natural’ shape of an Oak and required intervention.

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
National Policy Framework 2019
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5.2

The London Plan
7.21 Trees and Woodlands

5.3

Draft London Plan
G1 Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment
G7 Trees and Woodlands

5.4

Bromley Local Plan 2019
42 Conservation Areas
73 Development and Trees
74 Conservation and Management of Trees and Woodlands

Page 136

5.5

The London Borough of Bromley Tree Management Strategy 2016-2020
Section 18

5.6

National Planning Guidance - Tree Preservation Orders and trees in
conservation areas (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government)
Paragraph 020 - 057

6

COMMENTARY

6.1

The TPO was made on 29th January 2021 in accordance with The Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 sections 198 – 202G.

6.2

Further to a visual assessment adopting the TEMPO (Tree Evaluation Method
for Preservation Orders) scoring system, a new TPO was considered justified as
the tree merited preservation. In summary, the tree has a suitable retention span
and is prominent in the street scene.

6.3

The Order does not prevent future works from being carried out, but it requires
that the Council’s consent be gained prior to removing the tree and prior to
carrying out most forms of tree pruning. In assessing applications to remove
trees or carry out pruning, the Council takes into account the reasons for the
application, set alongside the effect of the proposed work on the health and
amenity value of the trees.

6.4

The TPO is valid for 6 months from the date the order was made. If the TPO is
not confirmed within this period, the TPO will cease to exist. Considering the
perceived risk to the tree as a result of the owner’s stated intention to fell it,
continued preservation is required.

7

RESPONSE TO OBJECTION
a) Whether or not the current owner has any intention of damaging or destroying
the tree does not affect the tree’s TPO worthiness. The potential threat to the
tree is evidenced by the proposed demolition of the building at this address.
Even without this threat the tree would still be worthy of TPO.
b) The Order does not prevent any future works from being carried out. It just
requires that the Council’s prior consent first be gained.
c) The owner can still carry out this duty by applying for permission to carry out
works.
d) The application process is free so does not place any greater burden on the
tree owner.
e) The Order does not prevent any future works from being carried out. It just
requires that the Council’s prior consent first be gained.

Page 137

f) The removal of trees in a nearby location only increases the value of the subject
tree.
g) The owner has not been targeted. The Order was made on the basis of an
assessment of TPO worthiness.
h) Oak trees grow in different shapes. This tree has large, highly publicly visible
healthy crown.

8

CONCLUSION

8.1

The TPO will cease to be valid upon expiry of 6 months from the date of service.

8.2

A level of management may be considered reasonable, should a justified
application be submitted. Damaging works will be opposed.

8.3

Members are advised to confirm the TPO as recommended.

RECOMMENDATION: Confirm TPO without modification.

Page 138

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 100017661.

TOWN PLANNING
Tim Horsman
Assistant Director (Planning)
Planning Division
London Borough of Bromley
Stockwell Close, Bromley BR1 3UH

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
CONCERNING
327 Crofton Road, Orpington, BR6 8NR

Tel: 020 8464 3333

Scale: 1:350

T.P.O. No. TPO 2696

Page 139

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 6.2

Committee
Date
Address

TPO No.
Ward
Proposal

PSC4 22/7/21

Dalton Close, Oprington

2705
Farnborough and Crofton

Officer Paul Smith

Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2705

Reason for referral to
committee

Councillor call in
Objections received

RECOMMENDATION

No

Confirmation without modification

KEY DESIGNATIONS
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2705

Representation
summary

Objection from agent.

Total number of responses
Number in support
Number of objections

2
1
1

Page 141

1

SUMMARY OF REPORT




2

To consider 1 objection received against the making of Tree Preservation
Order (TPO) 2705.
The trees an important contribution to the amenity of the surrounding local
area being a central focal point for a residential close.
Members must determine whether to confirm the TPO or allow it to lapse.

LOCATION

2.1

The site is located off Tubbenden Lane, Orpington.

2.2

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2705 was made on 29th January 2021 to secure
protection of two Birch trees on land in the centre of Dalton Close.

Figure 1 – Dalton Close

Page 142

Figure 2 - View from Dalton Close.

Figure 3 – View from Dalton Close

Page 143

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

PREAPP/20/00266 Erection of two storey building comprised 2 x 3bedroom
dwelling houses on land adjacent to 21 Dalton Close
Pre-application response sent
20/05107/FULL1 Erection of a two storey 4 bedroom detached dwellinghouse on
land fronting 21 Dalton Close
Pending consideration
20/05256/PIP Permission in Principle for the erection of semi-detached property
comprising of 2x three bedroom dwelling houses Under Part 2A of the Town and
Country Planning Act 2017.
Pending consideration

4

CONSULTATION SUMMARY

4.1

The land owner/occupier was served the TPO by recorded delivery. Immediate
neighbours were notified in writing of the TPO service.

4.2

One objection was received and is summarised as follows:

a) The trees have limited public accessibility, being located within a close and
screened by other trees.
b) T1 is of fair condition and unlikely to improve in condition (i.e. has a reduced
retention span.)
c) T1 is leaning and has deadwood.
d) T1 scores below the required number using a TEMPO assessment to merit a
TPO.
e) T2 is stunted and has stem damage.
f) T2 scores below the required number using a TEMPO assessment to merit a
TPO.
g) It is not demonstrated that the loss of T1 or T2 would have a significant
negative impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the public.
5
5.1

POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
National Policy Framework 2019
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5.2

The London Plan
7.21 Trees and Woodlands

Page 144

5.3

Draft London Plan
G1 Green Infrastructure and Natural Environment
G7 Trees and Woodlands

5.4

Bromley Local Plan 2019
42 Conservation Areas
73 Development and Trees
74 Conservation and Management of Trees and Woodlands

5.5

The London Borough of Bromley Tree Management Strategy 2016-2020
Section 18

5.6

National Planning Guidance - Tree Preservation Orders and trees in
conservation areas (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government)
Paragraph 020 - 057

6

COMMENTARY

6.1

The TPO was made on 29th January 2021 in accordance with The Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 sections 198 – 202G.

6.2

Further to a visual assessment adopting the TEMPO (Tree Evaluation Method
for Preservation Orders) scoring system, a new TPO was considered justified as
the trees merited preservation. In summary, the trees has a suitable retention
span and are prominent in the street scene.

6.3

The Order does not prevent future works from being carried out, but it requires
that the Council’s consent be gained prior to removing the tree and prior to
carrying out most forms of tree pruning. In assessing applications to remove
trees or carry out pruning, the Council takes into account the reasons for the
application, set alongside the effect of the proposed work on the health and
amenity value of the trees.

6.4

The TPO is valid for 6 months from the date the order was made. If the TPO is
not confirmed within this period, the TPO will cease to exist. Considering the
perceived risk to the trees as a result of the planning application including their
removal, continued preservation is required.

7

RESPONSE TO OBJECTION
a) The trees are a central focal point within a close comprising 21 dwellings. All
residents and visitors to the close have a full view of the trees from the bases
to the tops of crowns. The trees are fully publicly visible.

Page 145

b) The condition and retention span of T1 was considered within the TEMPO
assessment carried out by Officers. The result of which indicated a TPO was
merited.
c) The angle of the stem of T1 does not reduce TPO worthiness, nor does the
presence of any deadwood.
d) The assessment carried out by Officers produced a score indicating a TPO
was merited.
e) The size and condition of T2 was considered within the TEMPO assessment
carried by Officers. The result of which indicated a TPO was merited.
f) The assessment carried out by Officers produced a score indicating a TPO
was merited.
g) It is considered that the loss of T1 and T2 would have a significant negative
impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the public, primarily the
residents of and visitors to Dalton Close.
8

CONCLUSION

8.1

The TPO will cease to be valid upon expiry of 6 months from the date of service.

8.2

A level of management may be considered reasonable, should a justified
application be submitted. Damaging works will be opposed.

8.3

Members are advised to confirm the TPO as recommended.

RECOMMENDATION: Confirm TPO without modification.

Page 146

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey 100017661.

TOWN PLANNING
Tim Horsman
Assistant Director (Planning)
Planning Division
London Borough of Bromley
Stockwell Close, Bromley BR1 3UH

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
CONCERNING
Dalton Close, Orpington

Tel: 020 8464 3333

Scale: 1:500

T.P.O. No. 2705

Page 147

This page is left intentionally blank

